
 

GENERAL CHIROPRACTIC COUNCIL MEETING 
OPEN AGENDA 

16 June 2016 at 10.30am 
GCC, 44 Wicklow Street, King’s Cross 

London WC1H 9HL  
Declarations of interest: members are reminded that they are required to declare any direct or indirect pecuniary 
interest, or any non-pecuniary interest, in relation to any matters dealt with at this meeting.  In accordance with 
Standing Orders, the Chair will rule on whether an interest is such as to prevent the member participating in the 
discussion or determination of the matter. 

        Item Action Presenter Paper Time 

1.  Apologies and declarations of interest to note Chair  10.30 

2.  
Council meeting of 10 March 2016 

a. Draft minutes of March 2016 meeting and 
matters arising 

to approve 
to note Chair 

 
1606/2a 

 
10.35 

3.  
Chair’s report 

a. PSA/Department of Health update 
b. Update on joint meeting with Assn/RCC/GCC 

to note Chair  10.40 

4.  
Chief Executive’s report 

a. PSA performance review 
b. Update on meeting with DEFRA 

to note DCE  10.50 

5.  

Education Committee update 
• CPD review and development 
• ToC evaluation 
• Education Standards review 
• Overseas recognition of degree qualifications 

 
to note 
to note 
to note 
to agree 

EC Chair 1606/5 
 11.10 

6.  

Financial statement, including: 
a. Annual accounts 
b. Audit Findings Report 
c. Letter of representation 

to adopt DCE 1606/6a 
1606/6b 11.40 

7.  
a. Performance report 
b. Annual FtP report and statistics 
c. Annual registration report 

to note DCE 
1606/7a 
1606/7b 
1607/7c 

12.10 

Lunch 12.40pm 

8.  Audit Committee report, including:  
a. Strategic Risk Register to note AC Chair 1607/8a 13.30 

9.  Work plan to note Chair 1607/9 13.40 

10.  AOB    13.45 

       Date of next meeting:  29 September 2016 
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MINUTES OF THE MEETING 

OF THE GENERAL CHIROPRACTIC COUNCIL 
HELD ON 10 MARCH 2016 at 

PREMIER MEETINGS, DUKE STREET, LONDON WC1H 9PL 
 

OPEN SESSION 
 

 
 
Present: 
Roger Dunshea (Acting Chair of Council) 
Marie Cashley 
Tom Greenway  
Gareth Lloyd  
Julie McKay 
Grahame Pope 
Liz Qua  
Julia Sayers 
Gay Swait  
Phil Yalden 
 
Apologies: 
Sophia Adams Bhatti 
Carl Stychin 
 
In attendance:  
David Howell, Chief Executive and Registrar 
Penny Bance, Director of Education, Registration and Standards 
Paul Ghuman, Deputy Chief Executive (Director Resources & Regulation) 
Neil Johnson, Policy and Communications Manager 
Amanda Greenlees, Executive PA 
 
 

C-1603/1 Apologies and declarations of interest 
 
Apologies were received from Sophia Adams Bhatti and Carl Stychin.  
 
The Chair welcomed the member in attendance from the Osteopathic Council.  
 
Declarations of interest 
All members made a declaration of interest in relation to item 9, ‘Update on Council 
Remuneration Committee’ and a Registrant member on item 6, ‘Guidance notes’. A 
declaration of interest was made by GCC staff present at the meeting on the 
Grievance and Disciplinary policy. Gay Swait made a declaration of interest in 
relation to item 4a, ‘Update on RCC annual meeting’.  
 
There were no other declarations of interest.  
 

1



C-1606/2a 

C-1603/2 
C-1603/2a 

Draft minutes of the meeting of 3 December 2015 and matters arising 
 
The minutes of the meeting of December 3rd were agreed as an accurate record of 
the meeting.  
 
All items on the action log were noted as either completed or on the agenda for the 
meeting.  
 

C-1603/3 Chair’s report 
 
The Chair thanked both Council and the GCC staff for all their hard work in 2015 
and commented on the professionalism of staff and the commitment of Council 
members. 
 
Joint GCC/Royal College of Chiropractors (RCC)/Professional Associations meeting 
The Chair reported on the GCC/RCC/Professional Associations meeting that took 
place in January, saying that the meeting had been a very positive and productive 
one. 
 
Meeting with the PSA 
The Chair said he and the Chief Executive (CER) had met with Harry Cayton, Chief 
Executive of the PSA and George Jenkins, the new Chair of the PSA. The meeting 
was held to discuss regulatory performance and governance and there would be a 
follow-up in the next few weeks on the latter. He also said that the Council 
governance seminar, held the day before (March 9th), had been part of that process.  
 
Council appointment of lay member 
The Chair said that the appointment panel had met with Chris Dearsley, the 
independent assessor, to interview the shortlisted candidates. He reported that the 
position had attracted a strong calibre of applicants and said they hoped to reach a 
decision shortly.  
 
Council appraisals 
The Chair thanked Council members for completing their appraisals. He said there 
were no major concerns; that members felt they were contributing well and Council 
was working effectively. 
 

C-1603/4 Chief Executive’s report 
 
Advertising 
The CER said that the GCC was currently in the process of analysing 42 complaints 
about registrants’ improper use of websites and categorising them using the revised 
three-category approach previously agreed by Council. Initial analysis was that, of 
the 42 complaints, it appeared only four met the threshold for immediate 
investigation by the GCC. Ten of the complaints had been dismissed as they were 
not in breach of the rules on advertising and the remainder were being referred to 
the ASA. He said the GCC were now looking to move to the next stage, whereby 
the results of the analysis could be communicated to registrants.   
 
Use of the title ‘Dr’ 
The CER provided Council with an update on discussions had between the GCC 
and the Committee of Advertising Practise (CAP) on the use of the courtesy title 
‘Dr’. He said that CAP had initially said chiropractors should not use the courtesy 
title ‘Dr’ but that they had allowed dentists to use the title. Upon review, they agreed 
that chiropractors should also be able to continue to use the title and have updated 
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their guidance accordingly.  
 
Non-practising register 
The CER updated Council on the non-practising register, or, to be more precise, 
those individuals annotated as non-practising, being as there is no separate 
register.  There were 322 registrants not intending to practise in the UK during the 
current registration year paying the £100 non-practising rate.    
 
Update on RCC conference and AGM 
Council member Gay Swait provided an update on the RCC Annual General 
meeting which took place on 27 January. She talked about the programme and said 
that the conference had been fully booked, with 250 delegates in attendance. She 
said that it had been a very good event and made particular mention of a lecture by 
Professor Charles Greenough on the ‘Pathfinder’ national pathway for care of the 
lower back and radical pain. Professor Greenough had talked about statistics for the 
management of low back pain in the NHS and the 'pathfinder' system for triaging 
patients through care; a role that chiropractors would be qualified to fulfil.  
 
Meeting with the Department of Health on legislation 
The CE said that he and the ex-Chair had attended a meeting, along with the chairs 
and CEs from the other regulators, with Ben Gummer and the Department of Health 
on legislation. He said that the thinking around new legislation was still in its early 
stages.  
 

C-1603/5 Governance Review 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (DCE) updated Council on the Governance Review.  
 
He said that the Governance manual was still a work in progress and that a tender 
was under way to progress this work. He noted that the Governance manual had 
not yet been formally agreed as it had been recently amended. The Chair added 
that he felt the manual was fit-for-purpose and needed only minor updating. This 
was expected to be completed by June 2016. 
 
Instructions had been given to a HR lawyer to independently review the Grievance 
and Disciplinary Procedures along with the complaints policy against Council 
members within the Governance manual, to ascertain whether these were 
consistent with other regulators’ manuals.  
 
Council agreed that the final version of the Governance manual would be brought to 
Council, highlighting any major changes, once the work was completed.  
 
Council agreed the new Grievance and Disciplinary procedures for staff and the 
Complaints policy against Council members, for insertion in the revised Governance 
manual. 
 

C-1603/6 The Code – Guidance notes 
 
The Director of Education, Registration and Standards provided Council with an 
update on the six Guidance notes for the new Code which were expected to be 
published in late June 2016. She said there had been a good level of response to 
the consultation on all of the guidance documents. She also said that if any major 
issues arose there was an option to review, however she cautioned against 
frequent review because of the fitness to practise implications of doing this. The 
GCC intended to publish the Guidance notes alongside publishing of the Code. 
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Council felt it was a very good piece of work and congratulated all those who had 
been involved in putting together the Guidance notes.  
 
Council discussed how the GCC might respond to any queries about the Guidance 
and the Director of Education, Registration and Standards said that queries would 
be dealt with in the same manner queries were already handled and that this would 
be ‘business as usual’.  
 
Council also discussed the management of external website links being provided in 
the documents as these were often landing pages. It was suggested that any 
updates to links or direct links would be given in the GCC newsletter.  
 

C-1603/7 Audit Committee report and review of Strategic Risk Register 
 
The Chair of the Audit Committee updated Council regarding the Audit Committee 
report and the Strategic Risk Register. The Chair said the Audit Committee had 
recently met with Adam Halsey of Haysmacintyre and was satisfied that the GCC’s 
audit plan was robust.  
 
Particular emphasis was on the review of retention income; checking where internal 
controls could be overridden by management such as in accruals, coding and other 
journals; to review the investment valuations and consider compliance by 
Cazenove, GCC’s Investment manager, against agreed tactical asset allocation and 
the investment strategy. 
 
She said that the Audit Committee would be reviewing the accounts under the new 
reporting standard and that the auditing statements would be reviewed in May by 
the Committee and brought to Council for adoption in June 2016. The audit fee had 
been increased by £650 plus vat to cover this additional work.  
 
The Chair said the Committee had contacted law firm Fieldfisher to seek advice as 
to whether Council was able to designate a senior independent director and that 
Fieldfisher had advised there was no provision to do so within the current 
Constitution order of Council.  
 
Strategic Risk Register 
The Audit Committee provided an update on the Strategic Risk Register. The 
Committee had agreed a new risk of “Failure to maintain confidence of 
stakeholders”. This was clearly evidenced from the last Council meeting where it 
was agreed that the reputation and credibility of the GCC had been damaged with 
the Professional Standards Authority (PSA), the Department of Health and the Privy 
Council as a result of recent actions. Council noted the action plan put in place by 
the Committee to address these matters and thereby provide assurance to all 
external stakeholders. The Committee agreed a score of 16 for this risk.  
 
The risk “Failure of council to work effectively and make policy decisions in the 
public interest” had been upgraded to a risk of 16.  Council noted that the training 
session held the day prior to the Council meeting had been held to minimise this 
risk. The review of the governance manual would also reduce this risk.  
 

C-1603/8 Performance Report 
 
The DCE presented the Performance Report covering the period up to the end of 
December 2015.  
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In regards to KPIs, the listing of PCC cases within 9 months was still showing an 
adverse variance. This was largely due to an increase of complaints in prior years 
which had led to bulge in cases awaiting determination by the PCC. Council had 
agreed an increased number of hearing days in the last two years to combat this 
and, as a result, the number of cases in the pipeline had reduced by approximately 
65-70%. The target of listing cases within 9 months was expected to be met in 
2016.  
 
He said that Business Plan activities scheduled for 2015 had mostly been achieved.  
 
The financial summary showed a surplus of nearly £7k at the year-end, with income 
of £2,443k. There had been a 1% reduction in expenditure, mainly due to FtP costs 
being lower than forecast.  
 

C-1603/9 Update from Remuneration Committee 
 
Council discussed the paper prepared by Sylvia Doyle, Remuneration Committee 
member, which evaluated remuneration of the GCC non-executive roles of the 
GCC. These roles included the Chair, Council members, Committee Chairs and 
Committee members.  
 
Council agreed the remuneration rates contained in the paper and no changes were 
required.  
 

C-1603/10 Council work plan 
 
It was noted that the Annual Registration report would be included under the 
Performance report in June.  
 
Council agreed the 2016 work plan.  
 

C-1603/11 AOB 
 
There was no other business. 

 
Date of next meeting:  16 June 2016 
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To:  The General Chiropractic Council 
From:  The Education Committee 
Subject:  Report from the Education Committee  
Date: 16th June 2016 

 
 
Purpose 

1. This purpose of this paper is to: 
 
a) inform and update Council on the work that has been undertaken by the 

Education Committee during the first part of 2016 in the following areas: 
 

i. The progress that has been made in taking forward the CPD review so that it 
better assures continuing fitness to practise 

ii. The ToC evaluation and external examiner’s report 
iii. The review of the Education Standards (formerly Degree Recognition Criteria) 

 
b) gain Council’s approval for the Education Committee receiving an application for 

GCC recognition from BPP on behalf of a European College. 

 
CPD and Assuring Continuing Fitness to Practise  

2. The Education Committee has overseen a number of developments in the last two years 
in relation to the development of the CPD scheme, including: updating the CPD guidance 
for registrants; developing, reviewing and auditing guidance to inform registrants how 
this is done and to standardise practice in the GCC; and the further development of the 
CPD scheme so that it better assures fitness to practise.  

 
3. The GCC’s revised CPD guidance  for 2015/16 is more extensive than previously and 

includes more information on the different stages in the learning cycle and how to 
approach them as well as nine examples of learning cycles completed by registrants and 
accepted by the GCC.  Feedback from registrants at CPD development workshops has 
suggested that the latter are seen as particularly helpful in understanding what is 
acceptable.  

 
4. In July 2015 guidance on how the GCC checks individual registrants’ CPD returns 

against the CPD requirements and how the audits are carried out was published with the 
aim of clarifying for registrants how the process worked and why it was necessary - on 
occasion – to seek more information from them.  This was the first time that a specific 
document had been produced on this aspect of the CPD scheme.  
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5. The CPD review and audit guidance was used to inform how both the review of CPD 
returns and the audit for the 2014/15 CPD year were undertaken.  Learning points have 
been produced for registrants as a result of the review and the audit and are available on 
the GCC website.  
 

6. The Education Committee has overseen work, which included working with three 
development groups made up of members of the profession in different parts of the UK, 
to develop the detail of a new CPD scheme to better assure continuing fitness to 
practise.  At each of its meetings the Education Committee has received updates on the 
progress of the development groups including the help they have given in thinking 
through the different elements of the proposals and how they would work together.  Each 
development group has met three times and have offered to continue to work with the 
GCC to pilot the new elements once further guidance has been developed.   
 

7. The Committee will also explore the benefits of introducing a structured form of 
mandatory CPD in a registrant’s initial year of registration with the GCC. Commonly 
referred to as PRT (The Postgraduate Training Programme). However, like other 
changes to the CPD scheme, this too would require legislative change.  It will also be 
necessary to consider how this would work in practice for the whole profession and the 
implications of it being mandated rather than a choice as currently.    
 

8. The quality assurance of the CPD review and audit process resulted in a number of 
recommendation for how the system can be improved in areas such as improving 
guidance, policies and procedures for the office; improving guidance for registrants; 
introducing additional CPD requirements for registrants and improving the IT system.  

 
Work plan  

9. Table 1 below sets out the agreed work plan for the coming months given the progress 
set out above. 

 
Table 1: Work plan to improve the current CPD scheme and further develop the scheme 
to better assure the continuing fitness to practise of registrants 

Date  Activity 
April 2016  Agreement of Education Committee on the way forward  
May – June 2016  Current CPD system  

• Refine guidance on current CPD scheme in light of feedback 
• Develop further exemplars of good practice using 2015 review and 

audit  
• Draft guidance for CPD providers  

 Improving review and audit of current CPD system  
• Draft guidance and policies for office to set down formally what 

happens in practice  
• Investigate whether other regulators use registrants to assess CPD 

returns  
• Develop initial ideas on how assessors might best be trained to 

undertake the role  
  

ContFtP devt:  
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Date  Activity 
• Develop the points made for the 02/16 workshops into draft guidance 

for June 2016 workshops with registrants  
• Draft proposals for quality assuring the scheme  

 
 ICT systems for CPD 

• Learn more from the RCC about their newly introduced CPD portal and 
what it might offer to all chiropractors  

• Work with current IT provider to look at how current system might be 
modified in the first instance – timescale and cost  

 
16/06/16 Update Council on progress  
July – August 2016  Current CPD system  

Check different drafts of guidance with stakeholders  
Refine guidance in the light of feedback  

 Improving review and audit of current CPD system  
• Improve guidance and policies for office to set down formally what 

happens in practice  
• Develop training for assessors on assessing CPD returns  

  
ContFtP devt:  
• Refine the draft guidance following June 2016 workshops with 

registrants  
• Develop plans with registrants for pilot and support they would need  
• Further develop the proposals for quality assuring the scheme 

 
September 2016 Education Committee meeting – consider progress in particular issues 

relating to introducing PRT as a mandatory requirement 
 Issue revised guidance to registrants for the 2016-2017 CPD year on: 

• How to fulfil the CPD requirements (current) – updated  
• Review and audit – updated  
Publish guidance for assessors of CPD returns on the website  
Publish guidance for CPD providers  

 ContFtP devt:  
• Check final draft guidance in workshops with registrants prior to piloting 

 Produce investment plan for Council on new ICT CPD system 
October 2016 – 
March 2017  

ContFtP devt:  
Work with registrants to pilot new aspects of scheme maintaining regular 
contact on progress  

April – May 2017  ContFtP devt:  
Improve guidance in the light of pilots  

  
June – September 
2017  

Consult with the profession and other stakeholders on the proposed revised 
scheme  

October – December 
2017  

Refine new scheme in the light of feedback  

January – April 2018 Draft revised CPD Rules 
May – August 2018 Consult with the profession and other stakeholders on the proposed revised 

CPD Rules 
September – 
December 2018 

Refine revised CPD Rules in the light of consultation feedback  
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Date  Activity 
2019  Implement new CPD scheme (subject to legislative change) 
2020 onwards  Evaluation of revised scheme and further development activity where 

necessary 
  

Resourcing  

10. There are resource implications in relation to: 
a. developing a new CPD scheme that assures the continuing fitness to practise 

of registrants – this is, however, a requirement of Government and of the 
PSA. The costs will be reduced by considering the work of other healthcare 
professional regulators as well as working with communities of registrants to 
help ensure that what is developed will work for all stakeholders; 

b. developing the GCC’s offering in relation to CPD as part of its overall ICT 
strategy. It might be possible to reduce costs by working with the RCC for the 
CPD component although this would involve considering a number of other 
factors. An improved ICT system in relation to CPD will potentially lead to 
reduced time in the future for the office and for registrants as it will be 
possible to make use of a number of automated facilities including automated 
feedback and one that is compatible with smartphones, tablets and 
computers. In the interim, the GCC will be trying to find workable solutions for 
registrants, for example, by having downloadable sections for CPD returns.  

11. We have a ring-fenced grant from the Department of Health of which about £63,000 
remains and will continue to be used for this work.  When additional significant costs 
have been identified then the Council will be informed and further discussions take place.  

 

The Test of Competence – Year 1 Evaluation and External Examiner’s report 

12. Prior to the TOC being introduced, the Education Committee and the Council agreed that 
it would be beneficial to undertake a formative evaluation of the revised TOC in its first 
year of operation followed by an independent review once the TOC has run for three 
years.    
 

13. The purpose of the formative evaluation was to respond to any issues in the initial 
implementation of the TOC in order to shape it into an efficient and effective method of 
assessing candidates for registration.  The formative evaluation was tasked with 
addressing the following questions: 

 
a. Has the revised version of the TOC met its objectives? 
b. What have been the issues with implementation? 
c. Has it been possible to effectively address any arising issues during the first 

year of operation? And if so, how? 
d. How comparable is the approach to that used by other UK healthcare 

professional regulators? 
e. What are the recommendation for improving the TOC? 

 
14. The evaluation consisted of three broad strands: 
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a. A review of documentation and information developed during the 
implementation of the TOC 

b. A review of the information generated at feedback meetings with the 
assessors and External Examiner 

c. Interviews with GCC office staff. 
 

15. A précis of the report can be found at Appendix 1. This evaluation has shown that overall 
the revised TOC has been effectively implemented in its first 15 months.   
 

16. There were 23 recommendations made as a result of this evaluation. These 
recommendations were considered by the Education Committee and the GCC staff 
responsible for administering the TOC.  An action plan has been drawn up to ensure 
work is being taken forward.  
 

17. The External Examiner, who is responsible to the GCC via the Education Committee for 
the overall quality assurance of the TOC, has produced his first report for the GCC and 
presented this to the Education Committee in April 2016 (Appendix 2)  

 
Review of the Education Standards and Quality Assurance System 

18. The Committee began the review of the Education Standards (formerly Degree 
Recognition Criteria) and Quality Assurance system in autumn 2015.   The review has 
sought the views and involved the Education Committee, education and training experts, 
education providers and other experts within chiropractic to arrive at a first draft.  The 
draft standards have been consulted upon via an on-line survey and through targeted 
telephone interviews.  Following analysis of the feedback and review by the Education 
Committee it is planned to bring the final draft standards to Council for approval in 
September.  Meanwhile work continues on redeveloping the recognition process and 
quality assurance systems for chiropractic degree programmes.   Discussions have been 
held with other regulators in the UK and also the chiropractic accreditation agencies 
around the world.  An update from Pye Tait Consulting can be found at Appendix 3. 

 
Overseas recognition of degree qualifications 

19. The Committee considered a request by BPP University to consider an application for 
GCC recognition by a European College.  BPP is currently working with this College with 
a view to delivering its four year full time MChiro Programme.   The programme would be 
the same programme that is currently delivered by the McTimoney College of 
Chiropractic in Abingdon, which is recognised by the GCC. 
 

20. The GCC currently recognises qualifications granted by institutions in the UK.  The 
Chiropractor’s Act also allows the General Council to recognise qualifications granted by 
institutions outside the UK if there is evidence of it having fulfilled all of our criteria.  
 

21. The Education Committee considered its policy and the proposal with the Dean of 
School of Health, BPP University and recommends that Council agrees to BPP applying 
for a GCC recognition visit in country, which, if successful, would mean that graduates 
would be eligible for registration in the UK, thereby assuring the quality of the graduates 
entering this country rather than relying on the provision of the EU directive.  
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Action Required 

22.  Council is asked to:  
a. note the developments in improving the CPD scheme in terms of improving 

guidance to registrants and the benefits of an external quality assurance of 
the review and auditing process  

b. note the progress that has been made in taking forward the work programme 
for developing the new CPD scheme so that it will offer assurance of the 
continuing fitness to practise of registrants 

c. note the update on the Test of Competence Evaluation and to the publication 
of the Executive Summary on the GCC website 

d. note the External Examiner’s report, which will be published on the GCC 
website 

e. note the update on the review of the Education Standards 
f. agree to the Education Committee receiving an application for GCC 

recognition from BPP on behalf of a European College. 
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Appendix 1 

Executive Summary of the formative evaluation of the Test of Competence  
1. The formative evaluation was tasked with addressing the following questions: 

• Has the revised version of the Test of Competence (TOC) met its objectives? 
• What have been the issues with implementation? 
• Has it been possible to effectively address any arising issues during the first 

year of operation? And if so, how? 
• How comparable is the approach to that used by other UK healthcare 

professional regulators? 
• What are the recommendation for improving the TOC? 

 
 

Design of the TOC 
 

2. The objective for revising the TOC was to develop a proportionate response, 
learning from the approaches from other UK healthcare profession regulators.  
Overall the aim was to produce a simpler form of assessment approach that is 
proportionate to the risks posed by chiropractors from overseas.  

 
3. The evaluation concluded that standards of assessment have been maintained in 

terms of the pass rate being comparable while the cost and inconvenience to 
candidates have been reduce in terms of resits. 
 

4. Candidates are required to prepare thoroughly for the test and undertake more 
work prior to it, including considering the GCC’s Code of Practice.  Their previous 
qualifications and experience are considered in the assessment process.  
 

5. Overall participants in the process – candidates, assessors, GCC staff and the 
external examiner – report the process as appropriate and proportional.  
 
 
Comparability with other healthcare professional regulators 
 

6. The evaluation highlighted that the revised TOC can be seen as comparable to 
other systems of assessment used by the UK healthcare profession regulators and 
chiropractic regulators in other parts of the world.  It adopts an approach of using 
evidence of the candidate’s prior knowledge, skills and practice enabling the 
assessment to be individualised to the candidate whilst retaining a common format 
and standardised criteria for assessment. 

 
7. The revised TOC was developed through learning from the approaches of other 

UK healthcare professional regulators, specifically by: 
 

• focusing on differences between the UK’s requirements for chiropractic 
graduates and those found elsewhere in the world  

• proactively providing information to candidates to enable them to 
understand the UK chiropractic context and prepare themselves to take the 
TOC 
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• asking candidates to prepare and submit evidence prior to the test so that 
the test itself could be individualised to the candidate concerned and 
shorter in length  

• introducing an outcome of insufficient evidence (as compared with only 
having pass or fail decisions) and allowing candidates to subsequently 
provide further evidence to reach sufficiency  

• Providing feedback to candidates on their strengths and weaknesses.   
 
Issues with implementation and how they have been addressed  
TOC assessment – frequency and availability   
 

8. The evaluation found that the feedback from candidates in the first year suggested 
that they would be in favour of an increase in the frequency of TOC assessment 
dates.  
 
Assessors 

9. A sufficient number of high quality assessors have been appointed to run the TOC 
during its first 15 months of implementation.   All assessors have been trained in a 
manner that allows them to practise simulated TOC assessment preparation and 
interview prior to ‘live’ TOC assessment panels.  The first seven TOC assessors 
who were appointed were all appraised by the external examiner and all found to 
be practising competently.    The assessor pool has also been increased and will 
enable the GCC to form panels from different assessors so that over time each has 
experience of working with others.  
 
The Administrative Process 

10.  A number of issues were identified in the initial administration of the system. It was 
recognised that the implementation of the revised TOC required more resource, 
planning and greater effort than was first appreciated when the GCC took this over 
from the University of South Wales, which had run the initial TOC since its 
inception. Some issues still remain with the implementation, such as finding and 
securing appropriate venues and accommodation for the TOC preparation and 
interview days. The GCC office is currently not of a sufficient size or format to host 
the TOC interviews and is limited for preparation meetings.  
 

11. However, the majority of the identified issues were addressed in a number of ways 
during the early months resulting in an increased staffing resource in the office and 
improved support to assessors. The office has also developed a TOC issues log 
which is a useful means of identifying the issues that arise and how they have 
been managed. The GCC responded to these administrative issues with the result 
that participants are now reporting a smoother and timelier process. 
 
TOC assessment stages 
Guidance for candidates  
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12. The evaluation identified a number of changes that have been made to the 
documentation supporting the TOC by GCC staff. These changes have been in 
response to issues either identified by the staff through their interactions with the 
candidates or by the assessors. Staff had expressed concerns about the differing 
levels of support and advice that some candidates seek in preparation for the TOC 
as well as the impact this has on staff time and resource. It was noted that some 
candidates seek a great deal of help and support on how they should answer 
specific questions constantly contacting the office with specific queries and asking 
if they have answered individual questions correctly. Other candidates read the 
information, have little or no interaction with the office and then submit their EPQs 
and associated patient records. 
 
The Evidence of Practice Questionnaire and Patient Records and Syllabus 
mapping 

13. Overall the Evidence of Practice Questionnaire has been successful in gathering a 
range of information about candidates and stimulating them to interact with the 
Code.  

14. Assessors identified that improvements could be made relating to ethical dilemmas 
in the EPQ.  This will be done by creating a bank of ethical scenarios which are 
presented to candidates on the day of the test and to which they are asked to 
respond in the interview.  Work will need to be done to create such a bank to 
ensure the scenarios are concise, realistic and capable of testing candidates.  

15. Issues arose during the initial months of implementing with candidates either not 
supplying patient records to support their EPQ or submitting hypothetical ones 
which they found difficult to discuss. The issue appears to have been solved by 
emphasising the importance of this element of the process, not allowing candidates 
to proceed to interview if no cases have been supplied and by improving various 
aspects of the documentation within the EPQ and on the website.  

16. Assessors have identified the value of the syllabus mapping in informing, alongside 
the EPQ, the questions to be posed to candidates at interview.  
 
Assessment panel pre-meeting 

17. Initially, insufficient time was allowed for these preparation meetings. The 
assessors solved this problem by working into the evening and even the early 
hours of the morning in order to be fully prepared for the interviews. However, from 
June 2015 onwards the GCC extended the preparation time to a full day – 
approximately two hours per candidate – which has meant that assessors are now 
more likely to be able to rest the evening before the intensive day of TOC 
interviewing that awaits them.   
 
The TOC Interviews 

18. The review found that the TOC assessment interviews run effectively and 
smoothly. There is the possibility of making improvements to the assessor 
recording forms within the interviews and there would be value in gaining greater 
consistency in the recording of the interview outcomes by the chairs.  
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After the TOC 

19. Assessors have noted that it can be difficult to identify the threshold for the 
category of insufficient evidence and deciding how candidates should be asked to 
provide the evidence. There is the intention to address this by producing guidance 
for assessors but recognition that this is a challenging area.  
 
Conclusions 

20. This evaluation has shown that overall the revised TOC has been effectively 
implemented in its first 15 months.  A number of issues have arisen but steps have 
been taken to address these or there are plans in place to do so.  
 

21. There appears to be broad agreement from stakeholders in the process that the 
revised TOC is proportionate and fair, although some elements of the profession 
would prefer there to be free movement into the UK from elsewhere in the world if 
an individual holds a chiropractic qualification recognised by another regulator in 
another part of the world (note that there are qualifications that are not accredited 
by CCEI and also there are implications for the CCE-US withdrawal from CCEI).  
The revised TOC also appears comparable to the approach used by other UK 
healthcare professional regulators given the relatively small size and context of the 
chiropractic profession.  
 

22. The GCC should continue to implement the revised TOC taking into account the 
recommendations made within the report and seeing these as a means of further 
improving the process.  An external evaluation is planned for three years’ time after 
which the system should be more fully embedded. 
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Appendix 2 

External Examiner - Test of Competence Annual report, year ending January 2016 

1. Background  
This is the first year of operation for the new Test of Competence (ToC) assessment for 
candidates wishing to register with the GCC having qualified overseas. The new style ToC 
is the result of a major review of the process, comparison with how other regulators carry 
out the same function, and careful discussion with the Education Committee to determine 
the appropriate style for the future ToC assessments. To ensure adequate quality 
assurance an external examiner was appointed whose responsibility included overseeing all 
aspects of the QA of the new assessment, as well as appraising the assessors, and 
monitoring the assessment process.  
 

2. Introduction 
Between January 2015 and January 2016, 5 Tests of Competence were convened with 9 
panels, in which 32 individuals sat the assessment. This represents an increase from 
previous ToC assessments, though this may reflect a backlog, with applicants waiting for 
the new test to become available. Nonetheless, there still appears to have been a healthy 
number of applicants in process, and indicated the need for further assessor recruitment in 
late 2015 if the numbers of panels are to cope with this level of demand.  
Overall in 2015 there were 24 candidates and 26 attempts. 18 passed, 4 failed and 2 still 
have insufficient evidence.  This is consistent with results from the University of South 
Wales when the ToC was operated externally.  
As External Examiner, I observed the review meeting, the training day, and sampled the 
pre-ToC meetings and the subsequent panels. I also undertook appraisals of assessors, 
and viewed relevant documentation associated with the ToC organisation and outcome. 
In my view a high standard was expected to obtain a pass, consistent with maintaining the 
high quality of chiropractic care delivered in the UK.  
Confidence was provided by the assessment that patient safety was paramount in decisions 
made, and successful applicants had provided sufficient evidence that they could practice 
safely, competently and in accordance with the COP and SOP in the UK.  
 

3. Results 
The table below shows the initial results of each Test of Competence from January 2015 
until January 2016.  In 2015, all but 2 of the candidates who were asked to submit further 
evidence have submitted this evidence and gone on to pass. 2 of the 6 candidates who 
failed re -sat the ToC and passed.  
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Date of TOC  Initial Results 

January 2015  4 candidates 
 
1 Pass  
1 Further Evidence 
2 Fail 

March 2015 7 candidates 
 
3 Pass 
3 Further Evidence 
1 Fail 

June 2015  8 candidates 
 
 2 Pass  
 5 Further Evidence  
1 Fail 

September 2015  7 candidates 
 
4 Pass 
1 Further Evidence 
2 Fail 

 
January 2016 8 candidates 

 
3 Pass  
3 Further Evidence 
2 Fail 
 

 
4. Assessment Panel Operation 
The pre-meetings were conducted with professionalism and in both panels I observed 
benefitted from strong and appropriate chairing. This preparation demonstrated that all 
documentation had been read by the panel members prior to the pre meeting, and this 
assisted the efficiency of the day itself. 
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It was noteworthy that decisions were unanimous in all the panels I observed, with 
discussion to exemplify the rational for the decisions, as well as to identify additional 
work required for resubmission if required. 
 

5. Assessment Panel Feedback  
All panel assessors submitted feedback forms and virtually all the responses fell into one 
of the two categories below: 
How you found the TOC Assessment day as a whole 

The day went extremely well – everything ran really well 
The day went pretty well – nearly everything worked well and there were no major issues 
 

How the TOC Assessment Panel worked together as a whole 

The TOC assessment panel worked extremely well together and formed a coherent team 
 

There were a very small number of forms indicating that there were issues with 
organisation but this related to the first panels operated, and was not the case for 
subsequent panels. This is a pleasing result given the newness of the panels, the 
newness of the ToC process, the different chairs, and the introduction of new assessors. 
It indicates that the process appears to be working well from the assessors’ perspective.  
Review of the free comments on the forms reveals no major issues, with the majority 
being evidence of a highly professional approach to the process, drawing on experienced 
chiropractors who applied their background to assessing the candidates.  
Panels in the first operation of the process drew attention to a number of administrative 
issues, but these have been resolved in subsequent ToC sittings.       
Questions on the EPQ and those from the question bank were relevant to the candidate’s 
application. 
 

6. Training of Assessors 
A training day was run for new Assessors following a recruitment drive due to increased 
demand for spaces on the TOC for applicants. Training activities such as role plays were 
carried out for new Assessors. This was a useful day, well run, and I felt new Assessors 
benefitted from this in preparation for their first panels.  
 

7. Candidate feedback on panel operation  
It was noted that there has been a significant increase in January in submission of 
candidate feedback forms. This is likely to be accounted for by the change in procedure 
for 2016 as candidates are now asked to complete the form before they leave the venue 
after their interview.  
Of those submitted the majority of the feedback fell into the following two categories: 
 

The TOC assessment panel worked extremely well together and formed a coherent team 
The TOC assessment panel worked quite well together and formed a pretty good team 
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Candidates felt that the panel members put them at their ease, were polite, firm but fair. 
There still seemed to have been some uncertainty about the administration, timing, clarity 
of documentation and delay in result publication, but from my perspective I think the 
majority of these points have been addressed by the GCC admin team. It appears that 
some candidates are uncertain with regard to process, despite clear guidance given on 
the website.  
 

8. Communication with candidates 
Dissemination of results 
Valuable and meaningful feedback was provided for candidates, and clear instructions 
given to those for whom requests had been made to provide further evidence. All result 
letters were clearly written, and those for whom some referral was indicated set out 
clearly what was required in resubmission of patient records for example, or in acquiring 
additional information in, for example, IR(ME)R regulations. 
Complaints or appeals 

In the feedback a very small number of candidates who failed or who were asked for 
further evidence made comments about procedural matters in the administration of the 
test, and these were dealt with clearly and promptly. In all cases the comments related to 
misunderstanding of the process, which was clarified for the candidate. 
 

9. TOC Assessor Appraisals 
All TOC Assessors were appraised by December 2015 (but not including the new 
Assessors who served at the January 2016 ToC). All were judged to be fully satisfactory 
in performing their roles. 
All Assessors felt the panels were operated fairly, efficiently and had no major criticisms.  
All Assessors understood the rationale for the ToC and were highly professional in the 
execution of their roles.  
It was also pleasing to note that all Assessors aspired to improve their knowledge, skills 
and expertise on the role should opportunity arise, and some expressed aspiration to 
become chairs should that be possible in the future. Indeed, one Assessor has been 
interviewed and has been appointed as a Chair.  
Some Assessors were keen to examine assessment of clinical competency as a topic in 
a wider context than the ToC, in other areas of healthcare for example. 
 

10. Reviewing the TOC 
A review day with the GCC Executive and ToC Assessors was held in October 2015, to 
discuss and reflect on the process following the first year of running the TOC in-house. 
Some existing panel members have said they felt some kind of benchmarking would be 
helpful wherein chairs for example could ensure they all applied similar standards. This 
might still be possible, though with each additional run of the panels, and the mixing of 
panel membership standards are clearly being consistently applied, and in the 3 panels I 
observed demonstrable consistency was evident. 
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11. Conclusions 
1. I am satisfied that the ToC has been operated effectively against the criteria by which 
it was devised and established.  
2. The panels maintained a clear focus on the COP and SOP as well as on the DRC as 
the benchmarks against which to evaluate and assess applicants.  
3. The panels I observed were highly professional in their operation, well chaired and 
well prepared.  
4. Appropriate training of assessors has taken place. 
5. A review of operation has taken place, with improvements suggested. 
6. There is a very large burden of administration to support the process which so far as I 
could see has been undertaken with diligence. Candidates who have pointed out 
inadequacies in delivery of information, ability to navigate website material, lack of 
information, or indeed opportunities for ToC dates have usually been victim to 
unfamiliarity with the available information, and have been well served by the GCC staff 
who have carried out their role with the expected professionalism and dedication. Should 
the numbers of ToC applicants increase the administration capacity would be stretched, 
and attempting to absorb the increased volume might be difficult to maintain the high 
standard delivered to date. Early indications are that the March TOC has not attracted 
many applications and this has been of surprise given it has consistently been the most 
popular of the year over many years.  
7. There does seem to be interest in the TOC in tests arranged up to June 2016 for 
which the GCC has been receiving many enquiries. 
8. Finally, my thanks to the GCC office staff who ensured that all my travel arrangements 
for appraisals and panel observation were flawless, and that I received all necessary 
documentation well ahead of time. 

 
Professor Barry Mitchell 
ToC External Examiner 
12th February 2016 
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Appendix 3  
 
Update on Review of Degree Recognition Criteria (DRC) (henceforth to be called 
Education Standards)  

 
1. Between October 2015 and May 2016 work to produce Education Standards has 

consisted of interviews, desk research, and meetings with the Education Committee 
resulting in new Education Standards - the subject of a recent public consultation.  

 
2. Commencing October 2015, desk research reviewed 1) student chiropractic 

degree/master programmes, 2) current changes being experienced within Higher 
Education, and 3) equivalent material and quality assurance processes utilised by 
other regulators for other sectors within and external to the Healthcare sector. 
Concurrently, a number of healthcare regulators are also preparing to review or have 
already changed their DRC or Standards of Education and Training equivalences. 
Their reviews have pointed to some common approaches for consideration for GCC’s 
education standards and for quality assurance:  

• Greater flexibility for recognition processes: - support for providers through, for 
example, reducing burden, shorter visits and offering a range of approaches 
dependent on the type and nature of provider to ensure evidence requirements 
are proportionate.  

• Outcome-based criteria so that providers are not being told what and how to 
conduct their work, but show how they believe they meet the stated outcomes.  

• Risk-based approaches in recognition of the current climate with diminishing 
resources and the need for efficiencies in focusing where resource are used to 
deliver the greatest benefit. 

• Learning outcomes within themes or domains for the programmes seeking 
accreditation which set out skills, knowledge, behaviours and, sometimes, 
attitudes.  This ties in with the Councils on Chiropractic Education International 
(CCEI) recommendations which emerged at the latter end of 2015. 

3. Interviews carried out during the latter end of 2015, with contacts agreed with the 
GCC (providers, Chiropractic Associations, previous Chairpersons of the Education 
Committee, members of visiting panels etc., and education personnel at the other 
healthcare regulators), posed a series of questions framed around initial concerns 
raised by the Education Committee. 

 
4. The outcomes of the interviews moved the development work on a stage further. 

Agreement was broadly reached that:  

• Layout could be made easier to follow, there is a need to reduce and focus the 
text. 

• The criteria need streamlining and re-ordering. 
• Language: particularly within the, sometimes top-heavy, Guidance could be 

improved. 
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5. Other substantial discussions led to items that were subsequently debated at an 
education provider meeting held in late January 2016, namely:  

• Patient health interest – extent of patient involvement in student assessment. 
• Research requirements and extent of research activity for students. 
• Coverage within programmes of new skills viz. business skills, inter-professional 

and interdisciplinary learning; 
• Equality and diversity: is it sufficient or too mechanistic? 
• Public health issues and the need for a more contemporary context. 
• Avoidance of inadvertent barriers for new providers.  

6. At the same meeting it was agreed that the Education Standards should just contain 
Standards relating to student learning outcomes and to programme outcomes. Any 
reference to recognition criteria – previously held within the DRC– would be removed 
from this document and placed within what will be a separate document on Quality 
Assurance and Accreditation processes. 

 
7. As a result of this meeting, various versions were produced, each of which was 

looked at by experts from within Chiropractic and the legal professions. A version was 
compiled and made ready for consultation mid-April.  This has recently ended (mid-
May) and the findings of those and a series of follow-up interviews (with all 
associations, patient representatives, providers and members of the Education 
Committee) are currently under review to produce a post consultation version to be 
forwarded to the Education Committee.  

 
8. In short the 33 responses from the survey and the 12 interviews, with multiple 

interviewees, indicated these summary findings: 

• The revised layout and structure has received positive comment. 
• Some terminology needs defining and possibly further amplification, clarity on 

“shall” versus “must” needs greater review. 
• Not everyone was confident this is a good starting point for new providers 

starting from scratch, although a strong view that the standards are equally 
applicable to all but it is the assessment that is more critical for new provider 
consideration. 

• A few reservations that there may be a lack of detail and something ‘lost’ 
between this version and the current DR criteria, this is not a widely held or 
prevalent view. 

• The Code has been referred to and linkages made but more can be done to add 
weight to it. 

• Broad consensus that treatment of different philosophies of chiropractic should 
be kept external to this document.  

• General view that the revised wording for the standards regarding ‘Research’ 
which emulated those of the GMC, and a removal of the requirement for 
patient/carer involvement in student assessment are an improvement.  
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9. Desk research and interview material is starting to inform the QA and accreditation 
process review and this will now move forward as the Education Standards are 
largely agreed, subject to the points summarised above. 

 
Miranda Pye 
Pye Tait Consulting 
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To:  The Council, General Chiropractic Council 
 
From:  Paul Ghuman, Director of Resources and Regulation 
 
Subject: Annual accounts for 2015, Letter of Representation and Audit 

Findings Report 
 
Date:  16 June 2016 
 
1. Purpose 
 

To consider the Annual Accounts for the year ended 31st December 2015 and the 
Letter of Representation. 

 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1. Council is asked to:  

2.1.1. Adopt the Annual Accounts for 2015 and approve the Letter of 
Representation.  

2.1.2. Authorise the Chair of Council to sign the Annual Accounts for 2014 and 
the Letter of Representation 

3. Background 
 
3.1. The GCC is required to produce an Annual Accounts that has been audited 

under s41(2) of the Chiropractors Act (the Act).  

3.2. The Annual Accounts will form part of the Annual Report & Accounts which must 
be laid in Parliament on an annual basis. 

3.3. The draft Annual Accounts for 2015, (attached as Annex A), was considered by 
the Audit Committee at its meeting 13th May 2016 and are recommended by the 
Committee for adoption.  

3.4. Through discussions with the external auditor and the Director of Resources and 
Regulation, the Committee satisfied itself that the accounts were properly 
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prepared and were in accordance with applicable law, regulations and 
accounting standards.  

3.5. The Audit Committee considered the Audit Findings Report, (attached as Annex 
B), from haysmacintyre which confirmed that the external auditor was satisfied in 
respect of all audit and accounting matters. There was one small control points 
raised. This was that two council member expenses forms were found to have 
no receipts attached. The office noted this finding and agreed that as is our 
usual practice we will seek to ensure that documents are attached to each claim 
form. Council will also note that as a result of changing to the new accounting 
standard FRS102, a number of adjusting journals have been posted. The report 
also identifies that recommendations from last year have been implemented.  

3.6. The external auditor, haysmacintyre, who audited the accounts have confirmed 
that they provide a true and fair view of the GCC’s affairs for the year ended 31st 
December 2015.  

3.7. The Council is required to sign a Letter of Representation, (attached at Annex 
C), covering Council Members’ responsibilities in producing the financial 
statements.  

 

4. Report on the Annual Accounts 2015 

4.1. Council will note that there were relatively few extraordinary events in 2015. The 
main reporting change was that the accounts were prepared under FRS102 this 
year.  

4.2. This resulted in changes to the manner in which a number of items are shown in 
the accounts and also required changes to reserve levels brought forward. 
These accounting changes were agreed both by haysmacintyre and the Audit 
Committee. 

4.3. The accounts show that the Council had 17 months of reserves at the end of 
2015.  

4.4. During the year, the Test of competence was introduced and generated £39k of 
income and there was associated expenditure of £47k.  

4.5. The Investment portfolio market value had increased by £39K to £4,239K 
(2014:£4,210). The initial investment was £4M. There was a large degree of 
turbulence in the stock market in the latter part of 2015, which led to a lower 
than expected market value.  

4.6. Income had increased by £116k to £2.49M (2014: £2.37M). This is an increase 
of 4.9%.  

4.7. Expenditure had increased slightly in 2015 by £8k to £2.489M. This follows 
efficiency savings of £336k in 2014.  
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4.8. The GCC made further progress in the processing of a large proportion of 
Fitness to Practice (FtP) cases which had not been dealt with adequately in prior 
years and the pipeline of cases awaiting a hearing dropped from 23 at the start 
of 2015 to 10 at the end of the year. We are also pleased to report that the 
number of complaints received in 2015 reduced to 53 (2014: 65 2013: 80). 

4.9. It is also noteworthy that further efficiency savings reduced the Professional 
Conduct Committee costs to £491K (2014: £625k 2013: £826k)  

5. Proposals 
 
The Council is requested to adopt the Financial Statements for 2015 and agree that the 
Chair of Council should sign both the Financial Statements and the Letter of 
Representation on behalf of Council. 
 
6. Financial implications 
 
The cost of publishing and communicating the annual report and accounts will be 
covered by existing budgets. 
 
7. Legal Implications 
 
There are no legal implications arising from this paper 
 
8. Risk Implications 
 
The GCC is required to submit a copy of the annual report and accounts to the Privy 
Council Office for laying in each House of Parliament.  
 
9. Equality Implications 
 
There are no equality implications arising from this paper 
 
10. Communications Implications 
 
The annual report and accounts will be published on the GCC website. 
 
The Letter of Representation, once signed, is to be sent to the auditors, Haysmacintyre. 
 
 

Paul Ghuman 
 

Email: p.ghuman@gcc-uk.org 
 

Telephone: 020 7713 5155 
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Financial statements 

Status 

The General Chiropractic Council is a body corporate established under the provisions of the Chiropractors Act 
1994 (enacted on 5th July 1994). The Council is governed by the rules and regulations set down in the 
Chiropractors Act 1994. 

The Members of the Council 

The following individuals served as the Members of the Council during the period 1st January 2015 to the 31st 
December 2015. During the year, one lay member was appointed to fill a vacancy from the prior year and a 
registrant member was appointed during this year.  Elizabeth Qua was re-appointed for a further period of 4 
years. 

Name Type of member Date of appointment End of office 

Sophia Adams Bhatti Lay 1st April 2013 31st March 2017 

Marie Cashley Chiropractor 1st July 2012 30th June 2020 

Roger Creedon Lay 9th February 2009 8th February 2016 

Christina Cunliffe Chiropractor 9th February 2009 13th June 2015 

Roger Dunshea Lay (Acting Chair 
from December 
2015)  

1st April 2013 31st March 2017 

Gareth Lloyd Chiropractor 1st April 2013 31st March 2017 

Suzanne McCarthy Chair 9th February 2013 Resigned 31st December 
2015 

Julie McKay Chiropractor 1st May 2009 30th April 2017 

Grahame Pope Lay 9th February 2009 8th February 2017 

Elizabeth Qua Lay 6th June 2011 5th June 2019 

Julia Sayers Chiropractor 1st July 2012 30th June 2020 

Gabrielle Swait Chiropractor 1st April 2013 31st March 2017 

Carl Stychin Lay 31st January 2015 31st January 2018 

Philip Yalden Chiropractor 1st June 2015 31st May 2018 

Tom Greenway Chiropractor 1st January 2014 31st December 2016 

 

  

C-1606/6a

27



 

 

 

Legal and administrative details 

 

Chief Executive & Registrar 

David Howell  

Principal address 

44 Wicklow Street London WC1X 9HL 

Solicitors  

Field Fisher Waterhouse  
35 Vine Street  
London EC3N 2AA  

Bankers 

Santander Bank 
Bridle Road  
Bootle  
Merseyside  
L30 4GB 

Allied Irish Bank GB  
PO Box 52496 
London 
NW3 9ED 

Investment Manager 

Cazenove Capital Management 
Schroder & Co Ltd 
12 Moorgate 
London 
EC2R 6DA 
 

Auditors 

haysmacintyre 
26 Red Lion Square 
London 
WC1R 4AG 
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Report of the Council 

The Members of the Council submit their report and the financial statements of The General Chiropractic Council 
(“GCC”) for the year ended 31st December 2015 

Objectives 

The Council was established to develop and regulate the chiropractic profession within the United Kingdom.  

Principal activities 

The Council’s principal activities are: 

 to protect the public by establishing and operating a scheme of statutory regulation for chiropractors similar to 
the schemes for other health professionals such as medical doctors and dentists; 

 to set the standards of chiropractic education, practice and conduct; and 

 to develop the profession of chiropractic. 

Financial review 

The results for the year show a surplus of £41,913 (2014 restated: £3,348 surplus) before taxation.  

The Council is dependent on income from registration and retention fee income. Income from registrants has 
increased by £70,300 in 2015 to £2,316,600 (2014: £2,246,300).  

Expenditure has increased by £8,176 in 2015 to £2,489,942 (2014 restated: £2,481,766). The increase is a 
relatively small increase and follows efficiency reductions in the past two years. 

The members of Council consider that the organisation is a going concern and the financial statements have 
been prepared on this basis. The Council has a general and revaluation reserve of £3,536,363 which is enough 
to cover seventeen months’ running costs as at 31st December 2015.  

 

Auditor 

Statement as to disclosure of information to the Auditor 

The members of the Council at the date of approval of this report of the Council confirm that, so far as each of 
them is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Council’s auditor is unaware and the members 

of the Council have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information. 
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Members’ responsibilities in the preparation of financial statements  

The members of the Council are responsible for preparing the Report of the Council and the Financial Statement 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

The Chiropractors Act 1994, as amended requires the Members of the Council to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year, which give a true and fair view of the General Chiropractic Council’s state of affairs at the 
year-end and of its surplus or deficit for the financial year. In preparing those financial statements the Members 
are required to: 

a) Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

b) Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 

c) Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Council will continue in operation. 

The Members are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at 
any time the financial position of the Council and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply 
with the requirements of the Chiropractors Act 1994, as amended. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Council, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. The Members have sought assurance from the Chief Executive that there are no other matters 
which require disclosure in relation to these statements. 

The Members are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on the 
Council’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 

statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Approved by the Council on 16 June 2016 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

Roger Dunshea 

Deputy Chair 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Members of the General Chiropractic Council  

 

We have audited the financial statements of the General Chiropractic Council for the year ended 31 December 

2015 which comprise the Income and Expenditure Account, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and 

the related notes. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law 

and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).   

 

This report is made solely to the Members, as a body, in accordance with the Chiropractors Act 1994. Our audit 

work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Members those matters we are required to state to them 

in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 

assume responsibility to anyone other than the General Chiropractic Council and the Members as a body, for our 

audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

Respective responsibilities of the Members of the Council and auditors 

As explained more fully in the Members’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 4 the Members of the 

Council are responsible for the preparation of financial statements which give a true and fair view. 

 

We have been appointed as auditors under the Chiropractors Act 1994 and report in accordance with that Act.  

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable 

law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the 

Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements 

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is provided on the Financial Reporting Council's 

website at www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. 

 

Opinion on financial statements 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

 give a true and fair view of the state of the General Chiropractic Council’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 

and of its incoming resources and application of resources, for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 

and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Chiropractors Act 1994. 

 

haysmacintyre   26 Red Lion Square 

Statutory Auditor  London 

  WC1R 4AG 

16 June 2016 

   

haysmacintyre is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006  
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Income and expenditure account for the year ended 31st December 2015 

    Restated  

    Year ended  Year ended  

  31
st

 December  31
st

 December  

 Notes 2015  2014 

 

 

INCOME      
Registration fees – New registration  125,050  115,250   
Annual retention  2,158,800  2,095,600   
Other income 1 32,750  35,450   
Bank interest receivable 3 7,648  6,355   
Investment Income 3 124,820  119,763  
Test of Competence fees  39,000  -  
TOTAL INCOME  2,488,068  2,372,418   
      
EXPENDITURE      
Staff costs 4 1,022,838  898,571   
Staff expenses  25,772  24,758   
Regulatory costs 5 665,259  733,205   
Grant Expenditure re Revalidation 2,15 7,120  6,660   
Council expenses 6,17 179,599  190,852   
Professional fees 7 171,770  188,819   
Publicity  7,030  10,765   
Printing  3,342  9,325   
Postage  15,058  19,821   
Stationery  11,821  7,810   
Telephone  10,445  8,519   
Office costs  12,835  17,166   
Accommodation costs  250,901  257,280  
Computer costs  33,633  42,962   
Insurance  31,979  27,325   
Subscriptions  -  943   
Bank charges  1,896  1,160   
Depreciation  38,644  35,825   
TOTAL EXPENDITURE  2,489,942  2,481,766   
      
OPERATING (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS  (1,874)  (109,348)  
BEFORE TAXATION AND MOVEMENT ON 
INVESTMENTS      
      
Realised (losses) / gains on investments 10 (135)  (34,385)  
Unrealised gains / (losses) on investments 10 43,922  147,081  
SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION  41,913  3,348  
      
Taxation 8,14 (4,151)  (3,044)  
      
SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD  37,762  304  
      

The operating surplus for the period arises from the Council’s continuing activities.  

The notes on pages 9 to 18 form part of the financial statements. 
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Balance Sheet as at 31st December 2015 

    Restated 

  31
st

 December  31
st

 December 

 Notes 2015  2014 

  £  £ 

FIXED ASSETS     

Tangible assets 9 35,955  40,873  

Leasehold premises 9 78,353  89,125 

Investments 10 4,239,344  4,209,798 

     

CURRENT ASSETS     

Debtors 12 37,385  22,169  

Cash at bank   1,831,191  1,857,843  

  1,868,576  1,880,012 

CREDITORS     

Amounts falling due within one year 13 (2,568,501)  (2,602,206) 

     

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES  (699,925)  (722,194) 

     

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT     

LIABILITIES  3,653,727  3,617,602 

34,050,758      

CREDITORS     

Provisions and other liabilities 14 (47,667)  (49,304)  

     

TOTAL ASSETS LESS TOTAL LIABILITIES  3,606,060  £3,568,298 

     

FUNDS OF THE COUNCIL     

General reserves 15 3,297,017  3,281,682 

Revaluation Reserve 15 

 
239,345  209,798 

Department of Health Grant 2 & 15 69,698  76,818 

TOTAL FUNDS  3,606,060  £3,568,298 

 

Approved and authorised for issue by the Members of Council on 16 June 2016, and signed on their behalf by: 

 

Roger Dunshea 

Deputy Chair 

The notes on pages 9 to 18 form part of the financial statements. 
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Statement of Cash Flows  

For the year ended 31 December 2015 

  2015 2014 

  £ £ 

    

Cash flows from operating activities 
   

Surplus for financial year 
  

37,762 
 

304 

Adjustments for: 
   

 Depreciation of tangible assets 
 38,644 35,826 

(Surplus) / deficit on revaluation of investments  43,787 112,696 
Dividends and interest receivable  (132,468) (126,118) 
Taxation charge  4,151 3,044 
(Increase) / decrease in debtors  (15,112) 3,013 
(Decrease) / increase in creditors  (36,846) 58,476 

Net cash generated from operating activities 
  

(150,656) 
 

(138,151) 

 
   

Cash flows from investing activities 
   

Purchase of tangible fixed assets  22,954 1,857 
Sale of investments  239,732 386,490 
Purchase of investments  274,842 617,321 
Interest received  132,468 126,118 

Net cash from investing activities 
  

74,404 
 

(160,570) 

    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (76,252) (244,721) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  1,978,523 2,223,244 
    
 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

  
1,902,271 

 
1,978,523 

 
   

Cash at bank and in hand    
    
Balance at bank  1,831,191 1,857,843 
Balance held by investment managers  71,080 120,680 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 
  

1,902,271 
 

1,978,523 

    
    

 

The notes on pages 9 to 18 form part of the financial statements. 
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Financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2015 

Accounting policies 

Basis of accounting 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 (“FRS 102”), the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United 

Kingdom and the Republic of Ireland. Information on the impact of the first-time adoption of FRS 102 is given in 
note 18. The comparatives have been restated as appropriate. 

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the GCC’s accounting policies. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

Income 

Registration fees, annual retention fees, other income and letting income are recognised on an accruals basis 
according to the period to which it relates. 

Bank deposit interest is credited on a received basis. 

Financial instruments 

The GCC only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. 
Basic financial instruments are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their 
settlement value. 

Debtors 

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any trade discount offered. 
Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid net of any trade discounts due. 

Basis for recognising liabilities 

Resources expended are included on an accruals basis. All liabilities are recognised as soon as there is a legal 
or constructive obligation committing the organisation to that expenditure. 

Provision for liabilities 

Provisions are recognised when the organisation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event. They are recognised when it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

Tangible fixed assets 

Tangible fixed assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation. 

Depreciation  

Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write each 
asset down to its estimated residual value evenly over its expected useful life, as follows: 

Freehold buildings over 50 years 

Computer equipment over 3 years 

Furniture & office equipment over 5 years 

Leasehold over a period of lease which is 10 years 

All assets are written off a year after they have been fully depreciated. 

Current and Deferred taxation 

The GCC is assessed to corporation tax on its investment income including gains on disposals of securities.  All 
other surpluses are exempt from tax under the mutual trading rules. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated, but not reversed at the 
balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future, or a 
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right to pay less tax in the future, have occurred at the balance sheet date. Timing differences are differences 
between the GCC’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements. 

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing 
differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted, or substantially 
enacted, by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis. 

Investments 

Investments are a form of basic financial instruments and are initially shown in the financial statements at fair 
value.  Movements in the fair values of investments are shown as unrealised gains and losses in the income and 
expenditure account.  

Employee benefits  

 Short term benefits  

Short term benefits including holiday pay are recognised as an expense in the period in which the service 

is received.  

 Employee termination benefits  

Termination benefits are accounted for on an accrual basis and in line with FRS 102. 

 Pension contributions 

The GCC makes payments on behalf of certain employees into defined contribution pension schemes. 
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Council, being invested with 
independent insurance companies. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 31st December 2015 

 

  Year ended  Year ended 

  31
st

 December  31
st

 December 

  2015  2014 

  £  £ 

1 OTHER INCOME    

 Restoration fee 19,150  11,450 

 Non-practising to practising fee 13,600  24,000 
  32,750  £35,450 
     
2 DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH GRANT     

 

  2015  2014 

  £  £ 

 Balance brought forward  76,818  83,478 

 Income -  - 

 Expenditure (7,120)  (6,660) 
 Balance carried forward 69,698  £76,818 

 

3 INVESTMENT INCOME    
 

Investment income relates to dividends, bank interest and other receivables from the investment 
portfolio. The initial investment of £4 million was made in 2013. The investment managers are 
investing in line with the Council’s investment strategy. There has been a degree of turbulence in the 
markets during the latter part of 2015 which has led to a smaller increase in the portfolio than that 
envisaged. The valuation as at 31st December 2015 was £4,239,344 (2014: £4,209,798) 

4 STAFF COSTS    

     

 

The average monthly number of persons 
(excluding the Members) employed by the 
Council during the year was as follows: 

13.8  13.5 

  Year ended  Year ended 

  31
st

 December  31
st

 December 

  2015  2014 

 Staff costs for the above persons: £  £ 

 Wages and salaries 758,229  688,348 
 Social security costs 88,633  79,884 
 Other pensions costs 66,500  55,701 
 Temporary staff costs 80,207  44,548 
 Staff recruitment costs 29,269  30,090 

  1,022,838  £898,571 
The was an increase in staff costs as the Council recruited more senior members of staff and the 
results for 2015 contain full year costs for these individuals. There was an increase in temporary 
costs to cover additional workloads and longer term absentees.  

The Council Members delegate the day to day running of the Council to the senior management 
team which is made up of 3 individuals.  As such, these individual are considered as key 
management and their total remuneration, benefits and pensions paid to them in the year was 
£319,812 (2014: £307,108). Payments made to Council Members are shown in note 6. 
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5 REGULATORY COSTS    

  
Year ended 

31
st

 December 2015  

Year ended 

31
st

 December 2014 

  £  £ 

 General regulation -  2,632 

 Registration 16,128  12,416 

 Education Committee 16,796  17,706 

 Investigating Committee 84,661  68,717 

 Professional Conduct Committee 490,992  624,480 

 Test of Competence  46,664  - 

 Committee Social security costs 10,018  7,254 

  665,259  £733,205 

 

Professional Conduct Committee costs have decreased by £133,488 in 2015 and follow a reduction 
in 2014 of £201,592 in 2014. These reductions are as a result of efficiency savings following the 
introduction of an in house legal team rather than using external solicitors and barristers.  

Test of competence fees are costs associated with the introduction and implementation of a revised 
test for those individuals who have qualified outside Europe and are wishing to register with the 
GCC.  Those taking the test are required to pay a fee of £1,500 and the total income in 2015 was 
£39,000.  

 

  
Year ended 

31
st

 December 2015  

Year ended 

31
st

 December 2014 

Year ended 

December 2011 

6 COUNCIL EXPENSES     

  £  £ £ 

 Members’ fees 109,450  105,643 102,150 

 Social security costs 2,060  2,150 5,587 

 Expenses 38,107  47,940 62,933 

 Organisation development -  2,803  –  

 Committee and Council appointments 29,982  32,316 40,800 

  179,599  £190,852 £211,470 

 

Since February 2013, Council members have been remunerated by way of an annual salary of 

£6,650 with the Chair of Council being remunerated at £23,000 per annum. 

  

C-1606/6a

38



 

13 | P a g e  

 

 

  

Year ended 

31
st

 December 

2015  

Year ended 

31
st

 December 

2014 

Yea ended 

er 2011 

7 PROFESSIONAL FEES     

  £  £ £ 

 Legal fees 45,717  34,248 33,242 
 Auditors’ remuneration:     
     Audit fees 11,500  10,850 10,050 
     Accountancy services  -  1,266 7,245 
 Other advisory services 6,423  4,303 2,635 
 Database design, development, and support 9,954  30,443 48,768 
 Human resources and job evaluation 2,001  1,907 23,419 
 Website design and development 2,190  2,790 3,288 
 Project costs 60,137  81,744  
 Investment Manager fees 21,055  12,338  
 Professional Standards Authority (PSA) levy 4,012  -  
 Data protection and FOIA advice 8,781  8,930 1,822 
  171,770  £188,819 £130,469 

 

Project costs are specific additional activities agreed by Council in achieving the business plan.  All healthcare 
professional regulators are required from April 2015 to pay a levy to the Professional Standards Authority (PSA), 
as the oversight regulator.   

8 TAXATION 

It is the understanding of the Members that the Council is only subject to UK Corporation Tax on its investment 
income, which includes bank interest receivable. 

  Restated 

 
Year ended 31 

December 2015 
Year ended 31 

December 2014 

Current year tax:   
UK corporation tax (current tax charge) 3,966 905 
Deferred tax – origination and reversal of timing differences 3,794 2,139 
Effect of tax rate change on opening balance (3,609) - 
Tax charge per the income and expenditure account 4,151 3,044 
Factors affecting the tax charge for the year: - - 
Operating surplus/(deficit) before taxation 41,913 3,349 

Tax on loss on ordinary activities at the relevant rate  
of UK corporation tax of 20% (2013: 20%) 8,383 670 
Effects of: -  

Fixed Asset differences 7,729 - 

Elements of the operating surplus that are not taxable 485,211 484,396 
Income not taxable for tax purposes (483,063) (466,800) 
Dividend and distribution income (17,746) (14,740) 
Chargeable gains/(losses) 7,668 1,313 
FRS102 adjustment - 3,597 
Utilisation of tax losses brought forward - - 
Deferred tax not recognised - 2,766 
Movement in deferred tax not recognised (4,031) - 
Current tax charge 4,151 3,044 
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9 FIXED ASSETS     
      

  Leasehold 

Computer 

equipment 

Furniture & 

office equipment Total 

 Cost:     

 1st January 2015 107,717 59,256 26,696 193,669 
 Additions -  13,305 9,649  22,954  
 Disposals and write offs - - - - 

 31st December 2015 107,717 72,561 36,345 216,623 
      
 Depreciation:     

 1st January 2015 18,592 36,042 9,037 63,671 
 Charge for the period 10,772  22,279  5,593  38,644  
 Disposals and write offs -   - -  -  

 31st December 2015 29,364 58,321 14,630 102,315 
      
 Net book value:     
      

 31st December 2015 78,353 14,240 21,715 114,308 
      
 31st December 2014 89,125 23,214 17,659 129,998 

 

10  FIXED ASSET INVESTMENT  

 

  
2015 

 
2014 

  
£ 

 
£ 

Investments 
    Market Value: 1st January 2015 
 

4,086,322 
 

3,742,795 
Additions at cost 

 
274,842 

 
617,321 

Disposal proceeds 
 

(239,732) 
 

(386,490) 
Unrealised Gains/(losses) 

 
43,922 

 
147,081 

Realised Gains/(losses) 
 

(135) 
 

(34,385) 

  
4,165,219 

 
4,086,322 

Cash 
 

71,080 
 

120,680 
Accrued Income 

 
3,045 

 
2,796 

     Market Value: 31st December 2015 
 

4,239,344 
 

4,209,798 
 

 

The net gain on the portfolio for 2015 is £29,546 and the initial investment in the portfolio was £4M. 
 
11 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS     
 At 31st December 2015, the Council had a single non-cancellable operating lease in respect of a 

leasehold premise for office accommodation. This lease was granted in April 2013 with an annual 
rental value of £100,800. The future minimum lease payments are as follows: 

  2015 2014 

  Building  Building   

 Expiring:     
 Under 1 year 100,800  100,800  
 Between 2-5 years 403,200  403,200  
 Over 5 years 327,600  428,400  

  831,600  932,400  
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12 DEBTORS:   Restated 

  2015  2014 

  £  £ 

 Due within one year:    
 Trade debtors 900  907 
 Other debtors 10,763  11,845 
 Prepayments and accrued income 22,699  6,747 
 Corporation Tax 3,023  2,670 
  37,385  £22,169 

  

    Restated 

  2015  2014 

13 CREDITORS:    
 Amounts falling due within one year: £  £ 

 Trade creditors 98,147  206,814 
 Retention fees in advance 2,267,050  2,172,000 
 Other taxes and social security 46,388  39,210 
 Other creditors 29,466  35,497 
 Accruals and deferred income 127,450  148,685 
  2,568,501  £2,602,206 
 

14 PROVISIONS AND OTHER LIABILITIES      

  
  Restated 

  
2015  2014 

  £  £ 

 Deferred tax liability 36,279  36,094 

 Other creditors 11,388  13,210 

  47,667  49,304 

The deferred tax liability comprises potential capital gains tax on investments. 

 

15 FUNDS         

  B/B/F  Income   Expenditure  

Gains, 

losses 

and 

Transfers B/C/F 

 General Reserves 3,281,682  2,488,068  (2,486,973)  14,241 3,297,018 

 Revaluation Reserve 209,798  -  -  29,546 239,344 

 
Department of Health 
Grant 76,818  -  (7,120)  – 69,698 

 Total Funds 3,568,298  2,488,068  (2,494,093)   43,787 3,606,060 
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General Reserves – The Council has no restrictions on the use of these funds for the carrying out its 
statutory duties. General Funds comprise all of the assets and liabilities of the Council except for those 
that are held in cash and form the assets of the Department of Health Grant Fund as explained below 

Revaluation Reserve – The investments are shown at market value in the balance sheet and the 
revaluation reserve identifies the difference between the book value and market value on the last day of 
the financial year. 

Department of Health Grant - The General Chiropractic Council received a grant from the Department of 
Health to enable the Council to develop a risk proportionate system of Continuous Fitness to Practise 
(revalidation) for chiropractors.  

 

16 PENSION COMMITMENTS 

The Council makes payments on behalf of employees into defined contribution pension schemes. The 
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Council, being invested with independent 
insurance companies. The pension charge for the period is shown in note 3 to the financial statements. 

 

17 COUNCIL MEMBERS’ FEES AND EXPENSES 

 2015 2014  
 Fees (1) Expenses  Fees (1) Expenses paid (2) 
Sophia Adams Bhatti 6,650 176 6,650 309 
Marie Cashley 6,650 2,101 6,650 2,737 
Roger Creedon  6,650  6,650 - 
Christina Cunliffe  3,027 249 6,650 1,388 
Roger Dunshea 6,650 3,028 6,650 2,763 
Tom Greenway 6,650 94 6,650 116 
Gareth Lloyd 6,650 1,133 6,650 1,637 
Suzanne McCarthy  23,000 618 23,000 1,487 
Julie McKay  6,650 1,072 6,650 1,501 
David Plank    1,944 279 
Grahame Pope  6,650 1,236 6,650 2,218 
Elizabeth Qua 6,650 2,837 6,650 3,423 
Julia Sayers 6,650 297 6,650 343 
Gabrielle Swait  6,650 1,103 6,650 689 
Carl Stychin 6.096 390   
Philip Yalden 3,880 484   

 

The table above shows the fees payable for work done in the year and actual reimbursed expenses 
only. There was a total of £944 paid in 2016 for Council member expenses relating to the 2015 
expenses 

(1) Fees 

Members of Council are remunerated on a salary of £6,650 per annum. The Chair’s remuneration is 

£23,000 per annum. These payments are subject to tax and National Insurance.  

(2) Expenses 

Expenses were claimed by members for travel, accommodation and subsistence, and reimbursed by 
the GCC. With regard to accommodation, some members book and pay for accommodation 
requirements directly and these expenses are reimbursed by the GCC in line with the expenses policy. 
For most members, the GCC will book accommodation requirements and make payments directly to 
the hotel for the accommodation.  

Council meeting attendance 

The Council met on six occasions in 2015. Some of these were two day meetings.  
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18. Transition to FRS 102 

This is the first year the Council has presented its results under FRS 102. The last financial statements 
under the UK GAAP were 31 March 2015.   The date of transition to FRS 102 was 1 January 2014.  Set 
out below are the change in accounting policies which reconcile to the net deficit for the financial years 
31 December 2014 and the total reserves as at 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2015 between UK 
GAAP as previously reported and FRS 102.  

  
 

 
1 January 2014 

 
31 December 2014 

  
Note £’000 

 
£,000 

Reserves Reconciliation       

Previously reported  total Reserves   3,629  3,599 

  
 

  
 

FRS 102 Adjustments: 

 
 

  
 

Holiday pay accrual 
 

A (10) 
 

(14) 
Pension deficit payments 

 
B (17)  

 
(15) 

Deferred tax adjustments C (34)   - 
Deferred tax adjustments C - 

 
(2) 

Total FRS 102 adjustments 

 
 (61) 

 
(31) 

  
 

  
 

Restated reserves on transition to FRS 102 3,568 
 

3,568  

      

      Reconciliation of the net deficit for the financial year as previously stated to that restated 
      

   
31 December 14 

   £’000   
Net movement in funds as previously reported  (29) 

        Holiday pay accrual 
  

(4) 
  Pension deficit payments 

  
2  

  Deferred tax adjustments  34   
Deferred tax adjustments 

 
(2) 

  
      Net movement in funds under FRS 102 (1) 

        Notes 

A Holiday pay accrual  

FRS 102 requires short term employee benefits to be charged to the Statement of Financial Activities as 
the employee service is received. Previously holiday pay accruals were not recognised and charged to 
the Income and Expenditure Account. This has resulted in the GCC recognising a liability for holiday pay 
of £4k on transition to FRS 102.  In the year to 31 December 2013, an additional charge of £10k was 
recognised in the Income and Expenditure Account and the liability at 31 December 2014 was £14k. 

C Pension deficit payments 

FRS 102 continues to recognise the difficulties in applying defined-benefit pension accounting to multi-
employer pension schemes, and still allows for entities to account for participation in such schemes as if 
they were defined contribution schemes, so long as it is not possible to identify the entity’s share in the 

scheme’s underlying assets & liabilities. 

The key change arising from the implementation of FRS 102 is in respect to the accounting treatment for 
an agreed deficit-funding plan. FRS 102 requires the GCC to recognise a liability for the present value of 
the future contributions payable from any deficit funding agreement. The deficit funding liability at 31 
December 2014 has been calculated as £15k, however the present value of the aggregate of these 
payments has not been calculated as the difference is considered not to be material.  Previously deficit 
payment plan for historic pension deficits were not recognised and charged to the Income and 
Expenditure Account. This has resulted in the GCC recognising a liability for of £2k on transition to FRS 
102.  In the year to 31 December 2013, an additional charge of £17k was recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account and the liability at 31 December 2014 was £15k. 
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C Deferred taxation  

The GCC recognised deferred taxation in the year 31 December 2014, however under FRS 102 this 
was adjusted to reflect gains recognised on investments in the year to 31 December 2013. As a result 
this has given rise to a deferred tax provision of £34k as at 31 December 2014, which has been shown 
within the Income and Expenditure Account with an increase by of £2k in the yearend 31 December 
2014.  However in 2014 a provision was already recognised for £32k. The impact on overall reserves as 
at 31 December 2014 was £2k. 
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1. Introduction and Executive Summary 

This report summarises our key findings in connection with the audit of 
the financial statements of The General Chiropractic Council for the year 
ended 31 December 2015. 

We would like to take this opportunity of thanking you and your staff for 
the assistance and co-operation we have received during the course of 
our work. 

 
Our audit approach 

 

Our work was planned and performed in order to issue an audit opinion 
on the financial statements in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs”) and the terms of our letter of 
engagement. 

 
Limitations 

 

Our audit procedures, which have been designed to enable us to express 
an opinion on the financial statements, have included an examination of 
the transactions and the controls thereon. 

Our audit included consideration of internal controls relevant to the 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control or to 
identify any significant deficiencies in their design or operation. 

We have included in this report only those matters that have come to our 
attention as a result of our normal audit procedures and, consequently, 

our comments should not be regarded as a comprehensive record of all 
deficiencies that may exist or improvements that could be made. 

 
Overall conclusion and opinion 

 

At the time of issuing this report we anticipate issuing an unqualified 
opinion, without modification on the financial statements. 

We look forward to discussing this report with your Audit Committee. 
This letter is for your private use only. It has been issued on the 
understanding that it will not be disclosed to any third party without our 
prior written consent and no responsibility is assumed by us to any other 
person other than the Council Members of the General Chiropractic 
Council. 
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2. Audit risks and key judgement areas identified during planning 
We set out below the key areas of focus for our audit identified at the planning stage and the conclusions of our audit work: 

 

Audit risk/key judgement area How we addressed this Commentary 

Presumed risk in revenue recognition 
We are required to consider and respond to 
the risks of improper revenue recognition. 
There is a risk that registration and retention 
fee income are recorded in the wrong 
period. 

 
Detailed testing was performed on the revenue recognised 
in the period covering the accuracy of completeness, 
occurrence and cut off. 

 
Our audit work on revenue recognition did 
not identify any material issues. 

Presumed risk of management override 
We are required to consider and respond to 
the risks arising from management override 
of controls. 

 
Accounting estimates were reviewed for potential bias. 
We reviewed the appropriateness of general journal 
entries posted throughout the year and at the period-end 
for the preparation of the financial statements. 
The business rationale for unusual or significant 
transactions outside the normal course of business for the 
Council were evaluated. 
We considered the need to perform additional audit 
procedures where appropriate. 

 
Planned audit work was considered to be 
satisfactory in this area. 

Transition to FRS 102 
We have identified the risk that transitional 
adjustments arising from adoption of the new 
FRS 102 reporting standard may have been 
processed incorrectly. 

 
There is a further risk that transitional 
disclosures are inaccurate, or that 
accounting policies may be inappropriate or 
may have been applied incorrectly. 

 
We have assessed the accounting policies adopted and 
have completed specific testing on any restated 
amounts. 
We have completed a review of any transitional 
disclosures. 

 
Planned audit work was considered to be 
satisfactory in this area. 
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3. Accounting and Audit Matters 
3.1 Qualitative aspects of accounting practices and financial 
reporting 

 

i. Transition to the FRS102 

The new accounting regime – FRS 102 has affected the Council’s 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015. We 
have set out below the key changes that the transition to FRS 
102 from previous the UKGAAP has had on the Council’s 
accounts. 

Accounting adjustments and accounting policies: 

Key management remuneration 

FRS 102 requires entities to disclose key management personnel 
compensation in total. Key management personnel are  those 
persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. 
although this must be consistently applied year-on-year. The 
disclosure does not require that remuneration is split according 
to each staff position, only a total need be disclosed. Note 4 in 
the financial statements includes the correct disclosure. 
Holiday Pay Accrual 

 

FRS 102 requires the Council to accrue or prepay for any material 
holiday pay owing to or from staff at the financial year end. The 
General Chiropractic Council’s holiday year is to 31 December, 
which is co-terminus with the accounting year. However, as staff 
are permitted to carry over a maximum of 5 days annual leave to 
the subsequent holiday year. This means that there may need to 
be an adjustment to salary costs to accrue for any unused holiday 
at the year end. The holiday pay accrual at 31 December 2015 
has been calculated as £13,712, which has been recognised in 
the current year accounts. An FRS 102 transition adjustment has 

also been processed in relation to the Holiday Pay Accrual 
expense that is also required to be retrospectively recognised for 
the prior accounting period. 
Pension Deficit Funding Liability 
FRS 102 continues to recognise the difficulties in applying 
defined-benefit pension accounting to multi-employer pension 
schemes, and still allows for entities to account for participation 
in such schemes as if they were defined contribution schemes, 
so long as it is not possible to identify the entity’s share in the 
scheme’s underlying assets & liabilities. 
The key change arising from the implementation of FRS 102 is in 
respect to the accounting treatment for an agreed deficit-funding 
plan. FRS 102 requires the Council to recognise a liability for the 
present value of the future contributions payable from any deficit 
funding agreement. The deficit funding liability at 31 December 
2015 has been calculated as £13,210, however the present value 
of the aggregate of these payments has not been calculated as 
the difference is considered not to  be material. An FRS 102 
transition adjustment has been made retrospectively to recognise 
the liabilities for prior the accounting period. 
Operating Leases – Accounting Treatment 

 

FRS 102 requires the Council to recognise the aggregate benefit 
of any monetary lease incentives (such as a rent-free period, or 
an up-front cash payment) over the full life (term of the lease) of 
any operating lease, and not just to the first cancellable point in 
the lease term (break-clause) as was required under previous UK 
GAAP. 
The General Chiropractic Council has only one operating lease 
being for the premises occupied at 40-44 Wicklow Street. This 
lease had a commencement date of 11 April 2011 and was 
therefore in place prior to the FRS 102 transition date of 1 
January 2014. There were also no monetary lease incentives 
included within the lease agreement. As a result, there are no 
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FRS 102 accounting adjustments that are required in preparation 
of the 2015 Financial Statements. 
Operating Leases – Disclosure 

 

Under FRS 102, disclosure of lease commitments for a lessee 
have also been revised. Previously, a lessee was required to 
disclose any lease payments analysed between those annual 
commitments, which expire; within a year; within two to five years 
inclusive; and in more than five years. 
FRS 102 requires that the total minimum lease 
payments/commitment over the lease term is disclosed, with the 
payments aged by the bandings above, but based on when 
payments are due rather than when the commitment expires. 
Transitional disclosures; 
The impact of transition on the comparative amounts has been 
disclosed in note 18 to the accounts and amounted to a decrease 
in the Council’s total funds as at 31 December 2015 of £30k and 
of its deficit for the comparative period of £29k to £304. 
Report of the Council changes: 
In common with other health care regulators, the Council have 
considered the Report of the Council and we understand are 
considering including the following disclosures. However, some 
of these disclosures are required under FRS 102 (marked with *). 

 Governance Statement 

 Remuneration report 

 * Risk Statement - a description of the principle risks and 
uncertainties facing the Council and stating steps taken to 
mitigate them 

 *A fair review of the Council’s activities. This can be split into 
categories below. The review is a balanced and 
comprehensive    analysis    of    the    development    and 

performance of the Council’s activities during the financial 
year and the position at the end of the year. The review must 
to the extent necessary for  the understanding of the 
development of the, performance of the business include 
analysis such as financial key performance indicators and 
where appropriate other key performance indicators such as 
Fitness to Practice. 

a. Fitness to Practice 
b. Education 
c. Standards 
d. Continuing professional education 
e. Registration 
f. Communications 

 *  Financial  review,  which  includes  objectives,  set  at  the 
beginning of the year and the results achieved. 

 *Remuneration policy for key management 

 Reserves Policy 

 *Future plans 
We understand the Council Members have considered the 
disclosures in the Report of the Council and decided not to 
amend them to reflect the changes needed under FRS 102. 
Other Disclosures 

Council Expenses 
It has been noted that expenses which were paid across  to 
Council Members in the year have previously been correctly 
disclosed within the Financial Statements. However, expenses 
which were incurred by Council Members, but not yet submitted 
for reimbursement nor paid, have not previously been disclosed 
and it is best practice to include this information to ensure 
complete transparency in this area. 
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The disclosure within the “Council Members’ Fees and 
Expenses” note has therefore been included in the 2015 
accounts in this respect. 

ii. Investment Review 
The Council requested that we review the investment portfolio 
managed by Cazenove Capital Management to ensure that 
stated objectives are being met as set out in the statement of 
investment principles (SIP). The portfolio was established in late 
2013 and the review therefore covered 2014 & 2015. 
Underlying portfolio objectives, risk & management 
The Council’s “Investment Policy” has been obtained and 
reviewed which contained the following information: 
- Investment objectives 
- Attitude to risk 

- Asset allocation 
- Currency 
- Liquidity of the portfolio 
- Time horizon 
- Ethics & Restrictions 

Cazenove also provided some information on their maintenance 
of the portfolio within their “Suitability Update” & “Portfolio Details” 
reports. 
When comparing the two sources of information, it was noted that 
there may be a potential a mis-alignment of strategy in terms of 
the Council’s “Attitude to risk”. The Council’s policy requests a 
"Balanced" approach to risk, but can tolerate a short volatility if 
necessary and accepted that a high attitude to risk is necessary 
to allow the Cazenove to actively manage the  portfolio. 
However, Cazenove have stated that a "specialist mandate with 
a 'high' attitude to risk has been agreed". 

We recommend that the risk level Cazenove have implemented 
throughout the portfolio is discussed with the investment 
manager, in order to ensure that the investment strategy adopted 
aligns with the Council’s policy. We also noted that  the 
investment policy provided to Cazenove has not been signed by 
the Council. We recommend the policy be signed. 
Primary Investment Objective 
The primary objective established with Cazenove on the 
investment portfolio is to distribute a return of 4% per annum 
(after fees) generated mainly from income (capital can also be 
used however) on the resources invested. 
This objective was met by Cazenove in 2014, with the portfolio 
generating a return of £218,399 (after fees) on £4,106,531 
invested as of 1 January 2014. 
The primary objective was not met in 2015, however, with a return 
of £151,679 (after fees) generated on the opening portfolio value 
of £4,209,798, a return of 3.60% (3.5% prior to a grossing up tax 
deducted at source). The valuation reports also report a 3.5% 
return). 
Secondary Investment Objective 
The secondary investment objective is to maintain the real value 
of the capital invested, after any distribution. 
Cazenove were able to meet this objective in both 2014 & 2015 
with the portfolio value increasing from £4,107k at 1 January 
2014, to £4,238k at 31 December 2015. This represents a capital 
return of £112k for 2014 and £43K in 2015. 
Asset Allocation & Liquidity 
The investment portfolio was found to have a “wide & diverse” 
selection of investments throughout both 2014 & 2015, this 
includes investments in UK & Overseas Equities & Bonds, Multi- 
Asset Funds, & Property. All investments were highly liquid and 
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easily tradable on the market. However, the agreed strategic 
(tactical) asset allocation is different to what the valuation report 
indicates. For example, multi asset funds represent 12.1% of the 
portfolio. A multi-asset class investment would contain more than 
one asset class, thus creating a group or portfolio of assets. We 
suggest that management seek clarity as to whether the multi- 
asset class funds constitute a mixture of fixed income funds and 
absolute return funds. 
Strategic Asset allocation 

 

 Bench 
marks 

 
% 

Ranges 
 
 

% 

As per 31 
December 2015 

valuation 
% 

UK Equities 40 30 - 50 39.6 
Overseas 
Equities 

 

20 
 

10 - 30 
 

20.4 
Fixed Income 20 10 - 20 13.7 
Multi Asset 
Funds 

- - 12.1 

Property - 
Alternatives 

10 5 - 15 9.5 

Other - 
Alternatives 

- - 3 

Absolute return 10 5 - 15  
Cash - - 1.7 

 
Ethics & Investment Restrictions 
A review of all asset holdings since inception of the investment 
portfolio did not give rise to any indication that Cazenove had 
made any “direct investments in “armaments or “tobacco 
production companies”. This is directive is also documented on 
Cazenoves records. 

3.2 Audit matters 
 

i. Misstatements 
The Council has requested that any misstatements detected 
which are > £1,000 in value be reported. 
Prepayment of Professional Fees - £15,846 

 

It was noted that an invoice received in respect of an online 
subscription to “Westlaw UK Services” covering the year to 5 
November 2016 had been fully charged in the draft 2015 financial 
statements rather than being split into current year and prepaid. 
An adjustment was therefore processed through the Financial 
Statements to recognise £15,846 of the expense as a 
prepayment of 2016 fees. 
Overstated Accrued Income on Investments - £3,045 

Investment Income was found to have been overstated by a total 
of £3,045. The error relates to accrued income as detailed in the 
year-end investment report, which had been double-counted. 
An adjustment was posted to correct this error to the Financial 
Statements. 
Understated Investment Manager Fees - £4,153 
Investment manager fees of £4,153 (inclusive of VAT) in respect 
of the period 01/10/15 – 31/12/15 were processed through the 
Cazenove “Income Account” on 26 January 2016. These fees 
were not accrued in the draft 2015 Financial Statements. 
An adjustment was posted to correct this error to the Financial 
Statements. 
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Trade Creditors Disclosure - £1,100 
A total of £1,100 of debit (asset) balance as a result of a credit 
note from a supplier was found to have been included in the 
Trade Creditors listing. 
An adjustment was posted in respect of this disclosure issue to 
the Financial Statements. 

 

Unadjusted items which considered trivial 
 

Overstated Investment Valuation - £1,464 
It has been noted that the investment assets were overstated by 
a total of £1,464, due to the year-end investment adjustments 
being prepared in line with the report issued by Cazenove to the 
GCC. However, this initial report was not stated at bid-price (as 
required by FRS 102) and the error noted upon receipt of a 
revised report. 
No adjustment is required in respect of this disclosure issue as 
the error is immaterial to the Financial Statements. 
Understated Professional Indemnity Insurance (PII) Prepayment 

 

- £1,035 
Our testing of prepaid expenses found that the prepayment made 
in respect of PII had been understated by £1,035. 
No adjustment is required in respect of this disclosure issue as 
the error is immaterial to the Financial Statements. 

 
ii. FRS 102 

 
FRS 102 transitional adjustments 

The following adjustments were required as part of the transition 
to FRS 102 

 Accounting for holiday pay accrual 
 Accounting for the pension deficit 
 Deferred tax adjustments 

 
The opening reserves as at 1 January 2014 were adjusted by 
£61,398 and the subsequent movements in the year ended 31 
December 2014 and 2015 for the above. 

 
iii. Letter of representation 

 
International Standards on Auditing require us to obtain written 
representations from the directors when you approve the 
accounts. The letter contains only standard matters with no 
additional items specific to the General Chiropractic Council. We 
would be grateful if you could arrange for the text to be inserted 
into a letter to us on the Council’s letter headed paper and for the 
letters to be signed when the accounts are  approved at the 
Council meeting. 
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4. Financial review 
The purpose of this section of the report is to set out the key financial trends and to provide our perspective on the overall financial position. 

Statement of Financial Activities 
 

Income and expenditure highlights 
Retention fees have been gradually increasing since 2012 as a result of a consistent increase in the 
number of registrants. Registrant numbers have risen from 2,808 at the close of 2012 to 3,109 in 
2015, while registration fees have remained constant. 
The increase in other incoming resources from £35k to £72k is due to an additional £39k generated 
from “test of competence” income. Initial costs of £2k were incurred in 2014 in establishing this project 
but have increased to £47k in 2015, which includes further establishment, implementation and 
ongoing running costs and have been included within “regulatory costs”. 
Staffing costs have continued to rise over the four year period, despite staff numbers remaining 
relatively consistent. The average wage has risen from approximately £48.5k in 2013 to around 54.5k 
in 2015 due to the employment of highly skilled individuals. 
Regulatory costs have begun to fall since reaching a high of £1,020k in 2013. This reduction is a 
direct result of the Council starting to clear the back-log of cases which have been brought to the 
GCC in recent years. There has been a reduction in Council expenses of 27% since the governance 
changes introduced in 2013 which led to fewer Committees. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 2015  2014 
restated 

 £’000  £’000 

Incoming resources 

Registration/Retention Fees 2,284  2,211 

Investment income 132  126 

Other incoming resources 72  35 

Total incoming resources 2,488  2,372 

Resources expended 
Staff costs 1,048  923 

Regulatory Costs 665  733 

Grant Revalidation 7  7 

Council Expenses 180  191 

Professional Fees 151  176 

Premises 263  274 

Depreciation 39  36 

Investment Manager Fees 21  12 

Other Costs 116  129 

Total resources expended 2,490  2,481 

Net (outgoing)/incoming 
resources 

(2)  (109) 

Net Gain on investments 43  113 

Tax Charge in the year (4)  (3) 

Surplus in the year   37      1   
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Balance Sheet Balance sheet highlights 
There have been no significant movements in the balance sheet. 
Fund highlights 
Total funds have increased from £3,569k in 2014 to £3,606k in the year. 
Please note the total funds as at 31 December 2014 have been restated 
by £31k to take into account of the FRS 102 adjustments relating to 
holiday pay - £13k, pensions £15k and deferred tax £2k. They were 
previously stated at £3,599k. 

  
2015 

Restated 
2014 

 £’000 £’000 
Non-Current Assets 
Tangible Fixed Assets 114 130 
Investments 4,239 4,210 

Current Assets 
Debtors < 1yr 38 22 
Cash 1,831 1,858 

Current Liabilities 
Creditors < 1yr (2,569) (2,602) 

Provision & Other Liabilities (36) (36) 

Non-Current Liabilities 
Creditors > 1yr (11) (13) 

Net assets 3,606 3,569 
 

Represented by: 

Department of Health Grant 70 77 
Revaluationreserve 239 209 
General Reserves   3,297   3,283   

   3,606   3,569   
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5. Detailed control points 
During the course of our audit we identified a number of detailed control points that we feel need to be brought to the attention of the Council. These 
points are set out below, along with certain recommendations for improvements or corrective action as well as an update on the status of matters 
identified in previous years’ audits: 
Current year 

 

Issue Risk Our comments Management response 

Council Member Expenses 
We note two Council Member 
expense forms which were 
reviewed during the audit were 
found to have no receipts attached 
to support the expense claim. The 
nature of expenses were in relation 
to train and taxi fares as well as car 
park receipts for attendance at 
Council meetings. 

 
This increases the risk of non- 
business expenses being incurred. 
It also makes it difficult for finance 
staff to allocate costs accordingly 
on the ledger. 

 
We recommend that supporting 
documents for all expenses are 
submitted and all staff including 
Council Members follow the 
documented procedures. 

 
Additionally all supporting 
documentation should be submitted 
on a timely basis allowing them to 
be reviewed, approved and 
allocated to the appropriate cost 
codes. 

 

Noted. We will ensure that all 
expenses are supported with 
relevant documentation. 
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Prior year 
 

Issue Risk Comments Current year update 

Journals 
Routine journals are posted on a 
monthly basis as well as any 
correcting journals when needed. 
We noted there was no evidence of 
review prior to posting of the 
journals. 

 
Ideally, journals should not be 
posted to the ledger without 
approval. The lack of review can 
potentially lead to  fraudulent 
journals being posted as well as 
errors not being picked up. 

 
Best practice would be to keep a 
journals file. The journals would 
need to be reviewed and approved 
prior to posting. Spot checks should 
also be carried out on journals 
already posted through the use of a 
listing generated from SAGE. The 
evidence of this review should be 
kept on file. 

 
We are pleased to note a journal file 
is now maintained by management 
which is updated and reviewed on a 
monthly basis. 

Purchase Orders 
Whilst we appreciate this is a one 
off, we noted that one purchase 
order was not authorised (ref: 
3440). 
We also noted that if there are 
existing contracts in place and that 
the supplier issues several invoices 
in the year only one Purchase Order 
is completed and kept with the 
original invoice. 

 
There  is  a  risk  that  unbudgeted 
expenses are transacted. 

 
We suggest that all purchase orders 
are approved and copies of 
approved purchase order forms are 
attached to all invoices at the time 
the invoice is approved. 

 
We are pleased to note no issues 
were noted this year. 
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6. Emergingissues 
1. Cyber Essentials 

Hardly a day goes by without another headline about a high-profile organisation suffering a cyber security attack. Whilst there is no such thing as being 
100% secure, organisations can adopt a series of best-practices to mitigate the risk of them becoming the next headline, along with the associated 
damage to reputation and potential fines handed out by the Information Commissioner’s Office when personal data is involved. 
The Cyber Essentials scheme has been put together by the Government with the aim of encouraging SME type organisations to implement a series of 
technical controls across five areas to mitigate the risks from cyber attacks. These areas consist of: 

 Boundary firewalls and Internet gateways – usually the first line of defence for most organisations 
 Secure configuration – controls to ensure that computers and network devices are implemented securely 
 User access control – which focuses on areas such as password controls 
 Malware protection – technical controls necessary to minimise the risks from the countless viruses, works and spyware which can attack IT 

systems 
 Patch management – how systems and applications are kept updated to deal with known vulnerabilities 

haysmacintyre IT Consultants Limited, the IT consulting arm of haysmacintyre, have put together a programme which is used to help organisations 
achieve the Cyber Essentials certification – a way of them demonstrating to their clients and customers that cyber security is taken seriously. We start 
by reviewing controls across the five areas, provide advice on how to implement or improve them and work with our specialised partner to conduct a 
penetration test of the the organisation’s network perimeter. Once all of this has been completed, a self-assessment questionnaire (signed-off by the 
CEO or equivalent) is submitted and subject to satisfactory responses, the Cyber Essentials badge will be awarded. 

 
 
2. Employment tax issues 

The following are the key areas where changes have been introduced from 6 April 2016. 

Business expense payments exemption 
P11D Dispensation Agreements will no longer apply and is being replaced by the Business Expense Payment Exemption. Employers will be required to 
“self-assess” the tax and National Insurance treatment of benefits and expense payments it meets on behalf of its employees. HMRC have recently 
published their guidance which sets out the basis upon which employee expenses will need to be reviewed. Four different models are being introduced 
and the model to be adopted will be dependent upon staff numbers. The following is a consolidation of the guidance and we can advise you as to the 
basis upon which the independent checking will need to be undertaken: 

 There is an up to date expenses policy; 
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 No self-authorisation of expenses; 

 Independent checking of expenses are undertaken 

 You are able to distinguish those expenses which have been incurred “wholly, exclusively and necessarily” in the performance of the employee’s 
duties; and 

 A deduction can be claimed where there is a matching tax deduction available in respect of the expense incurred.  
Without these controls HMRC can seek to recover any underpaid tax and National Insurance together with interest and penalties. 
Summary of additional changes from 6 April 2016 

 Abolition of the £8,500 threshold for lower paid employment and form P9D; 

 Introduction of a statutory exemption for trivial benefits; and 

 Voluntary pay-rolling benefits in kind. 
Consultations 
The following is the current position in respect of recent consultations: 

a) Employer provided living accommodation 
HMRC’s “call for evidence” closed on 3 February 2016. We expect a formal consultation will be undertaken shortly. It is our understanding that 
new legislation will be introduced from 6 April 2018. 

b) Termination payments 
The formal consultation closed in October 2015 and further developments are awaited. 

c) Alignment of Income Tax and National Insurance 

The Office of Tax Simplification published their initial report on 7 March 2016 and further developments are awaited. 
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TO BE TYPED ON CLIENT LETTERHEAD 
 
haysmacintyre  
26 Red Lion Square 
London 
WC1R 4AG 
 
 
Date: 
 
 
Dear Sirs  
 
During the course of your audit of our financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, 
the following representations were made to you by management and Council Members on behalf 
of the of the General Chiropractic Council.   
 
1 We have fulfilled our responsibilities as Council Members for preparing financial 

statements, in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP) 
that give a true and fair view and for making accurate representations to you as auditors. 
 

2 We confirm that all accounting records have been made available to you for the purpose of 
your audit, in accordance with your terms of engagement, and that all the transactions 
undertaken by the Council have been properly reflected and recorded in the accounting 
records. All other records and related information, including minutes of all management 
and Council Members' meetings, have been made available to you. We have given you 
unrestricted access to persons within the organisation in order to obtain audit evidence and 
have provided any additional information that you have requested for the purposes of your 
audit. 
  

3 We confirm that significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, 
including those measured at fair value, are reasonable. 
 

4 We confirm that all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to the auditor and 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with UK GAAP. 
 

5 We confirm that there have been no events since the balance sheet date which require 
disclosing or which would materially affect the amounts in the accounts, other than those 
already disclosed or included in the accounts.  

 
6 We confirm that we are aware that a related party of the General Chiropractic Council is a 

person or organisation which either (directly or indirectly) controls, has joint control of, or 
significantly influences the General Chiropractic Council or vice versa and as a result will 
include: directors/trustees, other key management, close family and other business 
interests of the previous. We confirm that the related party forms have been completed by 
all trustees and made available to you as part of the audit. 
 

7 We confirm that the related party relationships and transactions set out in the declarations 
provided to you are a complete list of such relationships and transactions and that we are 
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not aware of any further related parties or transactions and the transactions have been 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with UK GAAP. 
 

8 We confirm that the financial statements correctly disclose the Council Members’ 
remuneration and reimbursement of expenses. 

  
9 We confirm that the organisation has not contracted for any capital expenditure other than 

as disclosed in the financial statements. 
 

10 We confirm that we are not aware of any possible or actual instance of non-compliance 
with those laws and regulations which provide a legal framework within which the 
organisation conducts its business and which are central to the organisation’s ability to 
conduct its business.  
 

11 We acknowledge our responsibility for the design and implementation of controls to prevent 
and detect fraud. We confirm that we have provided you with the latest copy of our risk 
assessment.  We confirm that we have considered the risk of fraud and disclosed to you 
any actual or suspected instances of fraud involving management or employees who have 
a significant role in internal control or that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements. We also confirm that we are not aware of any allegations of fraud by former 
employees, regulators or others. 
 

12 We confirm that, having considered our expectations and intentions for the next twelve 
months and the availability of working capital, the General Chiropractic Council is a going 
concern.  
 

13 The effects of unadjusted misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, 
to the financial statements as a whole.  
 

We confirm that the above representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and 
staff with relevant knowledge and expertise (and, where appropriate, of supporting documentation) 
sufficient to satisfy ourselves that we can properly make these representations to you and that to 
the best of our knowledge and belief they accurately reflect the representations made to you by 
the Council Members during the course of your audit. 
 
 
 
 
Yours faithfully 
Signed on behalf of the Council   
 
 
 
 
 
 
by: ……………., Chair of Council   
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To:  General Chiropractic Council 
 
From:  Paul Ghuman, Director of Resources and Regulation 
 
Subject:  Performance report for April 2016 
 
Date:  16 June 2016 
 
1. Purpose 
 
The purpose of the report is to present to Council the Performance report covering the period 
to 30 April 2016.  
  
2. Background 
 
Council agreed the format of the report to include an overview front page, a financial summary, 
and an exception based KPI report along with a report of the business plan activities for the 
year. 
 
3. Action required 
 
Council is asked to note the Performance report. 
 
4. Financial implications 
 
There are highlighted within the report 
 
5. Legal or Risk Implications 
 
There are no legal or risk implications arising from this paper 
 
6. Equality Implications 
 
There are no equality implications arising from this paper 
 
7. Communications Implications 
 
There are no communications implications arising from this paper 
 

Paul Ghuman 
 

Email: p.ghuman@gcc-uk.org 
 

Telephone: 020 7713 5155 
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Performance Management and monitoring 
of the operational action plan 
 
April 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by the Senior Executive Board 
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Overview  
Major Events  
 
These have been reported by the Acting Chair and Chief Executive 
to Council in a briefing note.  
 
 

Business Plan delivery  
 
Council agreed that the GCC’s Executive should report on any 
activity that was not proceeding as planned. These are highlighted on 
page 6. 
 
Key Performance Indicators  
 
We are not hitting our target to list 90% (actual 75%) of PCC 
hearings within nine months of referral.  
 
We also have two long term absentees whose absence record is 
greater than the KPI. This is explained on Page 5. 
 
Financial 
 
The net positive difference on income is £33k. There is a positive 
difference on retention income of £19k along with registration income 
of £12k  
 
Expenditure at the end of the April 2016 is lower than forecast by 
£9k. This is primarily as a result of positive difference on a number of 
expenditure lines including accommodation and professional fees 
offsetting higher FtP (£11k) and staffing costs (£21k) to date than 
forecast.  
 
The overall surplus at the end of April 2016 is £43K. 
 
The financial summary is on page 3 and 4.  
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Financial Summary – As at 30 April 2016 
 

 
Year To Date   

Income Actual  Budget  Difference 2016 Budget Note  
Sales 

     Initial Registration 41,850 34,500 7,350 111,000 
 Non practising to practising 8,000 4,000 4,000 8,000 
 Restoration 3,500 3,000 500 7,500 
 Retention - Practising 2,200,800 2,184,000 16,800 2,184,000 1 

Retention - Non Practising 32,300 30,300 2,000 30,300 1 
Investment Income 52,163 49,200 2,963 120,000 2 
Income (A) 2,338,613 2,305,000 33,613 2,460,800   

      Expenditure  
     Staff Costs 384,724 364,133 -20,591 1,119,000 3 

IT costs 11,791 18,333 6,542 58,000 
 Office Costs 43,087 47,833 4,746 137,000 
 Accommodation Costs 67,038 81,333 14,296 244,000 
 Finance costs 1,753 1,867 114 22,100 
 Professional fees 35,130 50,667 15,537 157,500 4 

Council costs 47,536 45,667 -1,869 197,000 5 
Communication 300 0 -300 14,000 

 Registrations 1,133 500 -633 7,750 
 Education 2,182 4,667 2,484 18,000 
 FtP 156,448 145,207 -11,240 570,000 6 

Expenditure (B) 751,121 760,207 9,087 2,544,350   

Surplus / (Deficit)  1,587,492 1,544,793 42,700 -83,550   
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Grant Funding - Earmarked for Revalidation Balance b/f Income Expenditure Balance c/f 

69,698 0 3,077 66,621 
 
 
 
Test of Competence  Income Expenditure Balance c/f 

28,500 14,702 13,798 
 
 
Note 1:  
 
Retention fees were higher than forecast by £19k, a difference of less than 1%. This positive variance will be present for the remainder of the 
year.  
 
Note 2:  
 
The income performance on the investment portfolio for the year is £52K which is just above the budgeted amount of £49K.  
 
Note 3:  
 
The staffing costs are higher this year as a result of two employees being on long term leave and their work being covered by temporary staff. 
As a result, we have spent £21k more than budgeted as a result. These increased costs are likely to increase in the next few months until the 
individuals return to work.  
 
Note 4  
 
Accommodation costs are lower as a result of moving from a fixed term contract for hearings to more flexible arrangements. This was justified 
as the number of hearing days required will be lower this year following the reduction in the caseload of PCC cases.  
 
Note 5  
 
Council expenses are higher than expected with an additional unbudgeted meeting in January, which was held off-site.  
 
Note 6 
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Ftp costs are currently 8% higher than forecast as a result of the increase in complaints relating to advertising costs (taking initial expert 
opinions) and also the planned increase in obtaining expert reports at the early stage of an investigation. These costs will be monitored closely 
in the next few months. 
  
Other costs  
 
Council has or will put in place a number of streams of work which will affect the budget position for the year. Some of these are:  
 

• Governance manual work carried out by haysmacintyre 
• Additional legal work and advice on various governance matters 
• Recruitment of Chief Executive 
• Recruitment of Chair of Council 

 
These costs were unknown when the budget was prepared in December 2015 and therefore will affect the budget for this year.  
 
Portfolio Valuation  
 
The portfolio valuation was £4,248,241 as at 30 April 2016.   
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Key Performance Indicators  
 
Fitness to Practise Status Exception Information 

To list 90% of PCC hearings 
listed within nine months of 
referral 

 Actual rate 
80% of cases listed in 2016 were within nine months of referral. This percentage has risen and we 
expect this to increase quarter by quarter. With such few numbers, a single case can have a major 
impact. From our forecast we will list all cases within the 9 month but we have a single case which 
was expected to be heard in 2015 but has now been determined in 2016. We had five 
determinations up to the end of April 2016.  
 
Reason 
The reason for this is that we had been dealing with a backlog of cases which has now been dealt 
with, aside from one old case which has been determined in this quarter.  
 
Action 
To cope with this the number of hearing days allocated in 2016 remains high but crucially the 
pipeline of PCC cases has reduced. This will now allow the FtP system to investigate relatively 
recent cases rather than historic ones. No further actions as this will meet target once we have had 
10 determinations in the year.  

 
During 2016, the GCC has received 10 complaints which are currently being investigated for determination by the Investigating Committee. 
During the same period in 2015, we had received 16 complaints.  
 
Resources 
 
The reported variance on staff absence was reported in the last report. Council agreed that this should not be repeated and any further 
exceptions to this KPI will be reported. Both members of staff are still on sick leave.  
 
Professional Standards Authority (PSA) dataset 
 
The dataset reported quarterly to the PSA will be shown as part of the KPI information on the same basis. This was last reported with the 
March report and will next be reported with the June report.   
  

67



April 2016 Performance report            C-1606/7a 

 
 

 
Operational plan progress – by strategic aim and activity 
 
 
1. To protect patients and the public 

 

We will seek to protect patients and the public by continuing to seek important changes in our legislation and further developing a system of 
continuing fitness to practise. 

 
2. To uphold and improve professional standards 

 

We will work with chiropractors to ensure that they have the tools they need to achieve high standards of professionalism. 

 
3. We aim to engage effectively and have constructive dialogue with our stakeholders 

 

We will build on our work with the profession, patients and other stakeholders to share information, best practice, gaining greater benefit from 
the feedback and to understand what information they need from the regulator. 

4. We aim to improve our effectiveness, ensuring our systems are cost effective and fit for purpose. 

 

We will build on our work in improving the skills level of all staff and seek to provide them with systems and data which will allow them to carry 
out their work more productively. 

 
For all our business plan activities, there were none listed for completion in the first quarter of 2016.  In relation to Quarter 2 work, we 
have made the following actions:  
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• The work in relation to guidance notes was completed with six notes agreed by Council. 
• The consultation on education standards has concluded.  

 
There are also a number of activities listed as action throughout the year and there has been ongoing work in relation to these.  
 
Additional projects added by Council or as result of governance issues 

Activity Description Status Completion date Lead 

Review of Governance issues 
Instruction to Dudley Smith who 
reported to Council in January. Completed January 2016 

Chair 

Meetings and communication with 
PSA/DH re governance issues 

Ongoing meetings with senior officials.  A number of meetings 
have been held and 
briefing updates provided 
to Council 

On going 

CER 

Review of Governance Manual 
Initial tenders taken and instruction 
placed with haysmacintyre In progress  June 2016 

PG 

Further legal work and advice 
 

Completed  March 2016 
PG 
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FTP Process 
Initial complaints received are investigated by the GCC legal team before being referred to 
the Investigating Committee (IC).  There is specific process in place that the team follows. 

The IC determines whether the chiropractor has a case to answer.  If the IC determines that 
the chiropractor does not have a case to answer the case is closed.  If the IC determines 
that there is a case to answer the case progresses to the next stage and is referred to the 
Professional Conduct Committee (PCC) or Health Committee (HC).   

The case is then considered at a hearing or a meeting.  If it is determined that the 
chiropractor is not guilty of unacceptable professional conduct (UPC) the case is closed.  If 
the chiropractor is found guilty of UPC then a sanction is imposed by the panel.  The 
sanctions available to the panel are to remove the chiropractor from the register, suspend 
the chiropractor for a maximum of two years, impose conditions on the chiropractor’s 
practice or admonish the chiropractor. 

The flowchart below shows the stages of the GCC fitness to practise process. 
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Complaints Received 
In 2015, the number of complaints received about chiropractors continued to fall, following 
on from a trend that began in 2013. 

There were 53 complaints received in 2015. 

Of the 53 complaints received, there were 42 individuals complained about.  This was as a 
result of some chiropractors having more than one complaint made against them.   

Multiple complaints add a degree of complexity to the process in that all complaints against 
an individual need to be considered by the IC at the same meeting.  This increases the time 
needed to investigate the complaint before referring to the IC.  Likewise, one complainant 
making multiple complaints against different chiropractors also increases timeframes, as all 
complaints must be considered together. 

In 2015, one registrant had four complaints made against them, two had three complaints 
made against them and four had two complaints made against them. 

Amount of complaints 
against registrant Amount of registrants Total number of 

complaints 
1 35 35 
2 4 8 
3 2 6 
4 1 4 

42 53 

Complaints received by month 
On average we received four cases per month in 2015, however there was a spike in 

complaints received in August.  We received 13 complaints that month.

80 
65 

53 

2013 2014 2015

Complaints
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Patient/Relative of 
75% 

Member of 
public/private 

org. 
11% 

Self Referral 
8% 

Registrar 
4% 

Chiropractor/Clinic 
where worked 

2% 

Almost 65% of the complaints were received in the second half of the year.  As a 
result, the caseload of complaints to be determined was higher at the end of 2015 
compared to the beginning. 

Source of complaints 

An analysis of the complaints that we received shows that predominantly the complaints 
were made by a patient or a relative of a patient.  These account for 75% of all complaints. 
The split of the complaints is as follows: 

Source No. % 
Patient/Relative of 40 75% 
Member of public/private organisation 6 11% 
Self Referral 4 8% 
Registrar 2 4% 
Chiropractor/Clinic where worked 1 2% 

5 4 3 4 
2 1 

3 

13 

3 

6 5 4 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

2015

Total: 19 (36%) Total: 34 (64%) 
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Nature of complaints 

The nature of each complaint can be difficult to categorise.  In some cases, multiple issues 
are raised by the complainant.  For example, they may be unhappy with the treatment they 
have received (clinical care) and may also raise an concern about the chiropractor’s manner 
(relationships with patients).  For this analysis, the more prevalent complaint has been used 
to categorise the complaints.   

Each category below is taken from the 2014 Sally Williams report.  It should be noted that 
cases of a sexual nature are categorised with ‘Relationships with patients’ not ‘Clinical Care’. 

Nature 2015 % 2014 % 

Clinical care  
(substandard treatment) etc. 31 58% 35 54% 

Relationships with patients  
(communication issues/sexual boundaries) etc. 12 23% 11 17% 

Probity  
(relating to patient data/advertising/deception) etc. 5 9% 7 11% 

Conviction/caution/criminal offence 3 6% 3 5% 

Health 2 4% 1 2% 

Business/employment issues 0 0% 2 3% 

Clinic facilities/premises 0 0% 2 3% 

Other 0 0% 4 6% 

TOTAL 53 100% 65 100% 

The majority of the complaints that were received in 2015 related to a complaint in respect of 
clinical care (58%). 

Clinical care 
58% 

Relationships with 
patients 

23% 

Probity 
9% 

Conviction/criminal 
offence 
6% 

Health 
4% 
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Male 
83% 

Female 
17% 

19 to 29 
13% 

30 to 39 
30% 

40 to 49 
27% 

50 to 59 
30% 

60+ 
0% 

Ethnicity and Diversity of individuals complained about 

From our records we know the age and gender of chiropractors who are referred to us.  We 
also ask all chiropractors to complete a diversity monitoring form.  Provision of this 
information is entirely voluntary; however we encourage chiropractors to provide this to us.   

We have used the data that we hold to produce an analysis of the ethnicity and diversity of 
the chiropractors that are complained about.  However, considerable caution must be 
exercised in looking at this data.  There is a limited base of complaints received from year to 
year so small numbers can impact on the total numbers and skew figures dramatically.  Also 
as noted above, there are some cases that involve the same chiropractor, so the totals will 
be duplicated in these instances.  We also have varying amounts of data for each protected 
characteristic per chiropractor.  It would be inappropriate and potentially misleading to draw 
broad conclusions from it. 

 
Complaints by Gender 
 
As at 31 December 2015, 50% of the register was male and 50% female.  However, it is 
noted that a much higher proportion of male chiropractors (83%) are complained about than 
their female counterparts (17%). 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Complaints by Age 

 

 

 

Gender No. % 

Male 44 83% 

Female 9 17% 

Total 53 100% 

Age No. % Male Female 

19 to 29  7 13% 5 2 

30 to 39  16 30% 14 2 

40 to 49  14 26% 11 3 

50 to 59  16 30% 14 2 

60+  0 0% 0 0 

Total 53 100%   
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Complaints by Ethnicity 

Complaints by Sexual Orientation 

Complaints by Religion or Belief 

Complaints by Disability 

Ethnicity No. % 

White 32 60% 

Black 5 9% 

Asian 2 4% 

Unknown 14 26% 

Total 53 100% 

Sexual Orientation No. % 

Heterosexual 13 25% 

Unknown 40 75% 

Total 53 100% 

Religion or Belief No. % 

Christian 8 15% 

No Religion 3 6% 

Jewish 1 2% 

Unknown 41 77% 

Total 53 100% 

Disability  No. % 

Yes 0 0% 

No 39 74% 

Unknown 14 26% 

Total 53 100% 

White 
60% 

Black 
10% 

Asian 
4% 

Unknown 
26% 

Unknown 
75% 

Heterosexual

25% 

Christian 
15% 

None 
6% 

Jewish 
2% 

Unknown 
77% 

Yes 
0% 

No 
74% 

Unknown 
26% 
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Complaints by Nationality 

Nationality No. % 

British 33 62% 

American 6 11% 

Australian 3 6% 

South African 3 6% 

Danish 2 4% 

New Zealander 2 4% 

Canadian 1 2% 

Norwegian 1 2% 

Indian 1 2% 

Swiss 1 2% 

Total 53 100% 

British 
62% 

American 
11% 

Australian 
5% 

South African 
6% 

Danish 
4% 

New Zealander 
4% Canadian 

2% 

Norwegian 
2% 

Indian 
2% 

Swiss 
2% 
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IC Cases Concluded by month

Complaint 
Received 
in 2014 

39% 

Complaint 
Received 
in 2015 

61% 

Investigating Committee (IC) 
In 2015, the Investigating Committee determined 41 cases. 

The number of cases concluded in each month is as follows: 

The percentage of cases determined in the year when compared to 
the number of complaints received in the year was 79%. 

Of the 41 cases that were determined, 16 of the complaints were received in 2014 and 25 
were received in 2015.  There is only one complaint received before 2015 in the system 
awaiting a determination.  This case is a police matter which we expect to be concluded 
in early 2016, at which point the GCC can take the matter forward. 

At the end of 2015, there were 29 cases that were awaiting a decision by the Investigating 
Committee.  The higher number is a result of receiving 64% of the year’s complaints in the 
second half of the year, an increase in complexity of cases, multiple complaints against 
once chiropractor and individual complainants raising complaints against multiple 
chiropractors. 

Jan 5 
Feb 7 
Mar 0 
Apr 0 
May 5 
Jun 4 
Jul 4 
Aug 6 
Sep 0 
Oct 3 
Nov 0 
Dec 7 

41 

Year 
complaint 
received 

IC Cases 
concluded 
in 2015 

2014 16 39% 

2015 25 61% 

41 
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NCTA 
32% 

Refer to panel 
39% 

Withdrawn 
29% 

Decisions of the Investigating Committee 
Of the 41 cases that were determined by the IC in 2015, 16 were referred on to the 
Professional Conduct Committee or Health Committee (39%). 

Decision of the IC No. % 

Case to answer (referred to PCC) 16 39% 

No Case To Answer 13 32% 

Withdrawn/Closed 12 29% 

41 100% 
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Time taken for IC cases to be determined 
We aim to complete cases in a timely manner to ensure fairness and proportionality for both 
registrant and complainant. 

Of the 41 cases that the IC determined in 2015, over 95% of cases (39) were determined 
within 9 months of the complaint being received. 

In fact, over half (56%) of the cases determined were done within 4 months of the date of 
receipt and 78% of the cases were closed within 6 months.   

Occasionally there are cases, due to various reasons, including the complexity of the case, 
that we are unable to determine within 9 months. 

Jan – Mar Jan - June Jan -Sep Jan - Dec 
Cases closed within 4 months 7 12 17 23 
Cases closed within 5 - 6 months 3 5 7 9 
Cases closed within 7 - 9 months 1 3 6 7 
Cases closed after 9 months 1 1 1 2 
Total (all cases) 12 21 31 41 

Percentage of cases closed within 9 
months 92% 95% 97% 95% 

23 

9 
7 

2 

Closed within 4 months Closed within 5 - 6
months

Closed within 7 - 9
months

Closed after 9 months

Number of cases

22% 

17% 

5% 

56% 
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IC Interim Suspension Hearings 2015 
If the Investigating Committee is satisfied that it is necessary to do so in order to protect 
members of the public, it may order the Registrar to suspend the chiropractor's registration 
(an ‘interim suspension order’).  The order shall specify the period of the suspension, which 
shall not exceed two months beginning with the date on which the order is made. 

Before making an order, the Investigating Committee shall give the chiropractor concerned 
an opportunity to appear before it and to argue his/her case against the making of the 
proposed order at a hearing.  The chiropractor is entitled to be legally represented. 

There were 3 IC interim suspension hearings held in 2015.  In 2 of these hearings no order 
was imposed. 

Number of working days for an Interim Suspension Hearing 

The numbers of days taken to hear the cases are as follows:  

No Order 
imposed 

67% 

Suspended 
33% 

18 
16 

20 

Case A Case B Case C
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Professional Conduct Committee (PCC) 
In 2015 there were 22 hearings determined by the PCC.  Two of the cases that were 
considered involved more than one complaint against the chiropractor.  This meant that 
despite there being 22 hearings heard, there were 29 complaints/cases dealt with by the 
PCC. 

There was one chiropractor that was removed from the register in 2016.  There were a 
further seven that were found guilty of unacceptable professional conduct but received a 
lesser sanction. 

In eight cases the chiropractor was found not guilty of unacceptable professional conduct. 

The GCC offered no evidence in six cases.  The threshold test for referrals of cases to the 
PCC from the IC is ‘case to answer’.  This is the lowest threshold across all nine regulators.  
This does mean that when applying the test for a hearing, a number of referred cases do not 
have the necessary seriousness to warrant being considered by the PCC. 

Final outcome of PCC hearing/meeting No. % 
Removal 1 5% 
Suspension 1 5% 
Conditions of Practice 1 5% 
Admonishment 5 23% 
No UPC 8 36% 
GCC offered no evidence 6 27% 
TOTAL 22 100% 

Removal 
4% 

Suspension 
5% 

Conditions of 
Practice 

5% 

Admonishment 
23% 

No UPC 
36% 

GCC offered no 
evidence 

27% 
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19 to 29 
4% 

30 to 39 
41% 

40 to 49 
23% 

50 to 59 
27% 

60+ 
5% 

No 
82% 

Unknown 
18% 

Male 
68% 

Female 
32% 

White 
68% 

Asian 
9% 

Unknown 
23% 

Gender breakdown 

 

 

 

 

 

Age breakdown 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disability breakdown 

Disability No. % 

No 18 82% 

Unknown 4 18% 

TOTAL 22 100% 
 

Ethinicity breakdown 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gender No. % 

Male 15 68% 

Female 7 32% 

TOTAL 22 100% 

Age No. % 

19 to 29 1 5% 

30 to 39 9 41% 

40 to 49 5 23% 

50 to 59 6 27% 

60+ 1 5% 

TOTAL 22 100% 

Ethnicity No. % 

White 15 68% 

Asian 2 9% 

Unknown 5 23% 

TOTAL 22 100% 
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British 
68% South 

African 
9% 

Australian 
4% 

German 
4% 

Canadian 
5% Swiss 

5% 
Swedish 

5% 

Unknown
, 68% 

Unknown 
73% Christian 

9% 

No 
Religion 

9% 

Sikh 
4% 

Other 
5% 

Nationality breakdown 

 

Sexual Orientation breakdown 

 

 

Religion breakdown  

 

 

Nationality No. % 

British 15 68% 

South African 2 9% 

Australian 1 5% 

German 1 5% 

Canadian 1 5% 

Swiss 1 5% 

Swedish 1 5% 

TOTAL 22 100% 

Sexual Orientation No. % 

Unknown 15 68% 

Heterosexual 7 32% 

TOTAL 22 100% 

Religion No. % 

Unknown 16 73% 

Christian 2 9% 

No Religion 2 9% 

Sikh 1 5% 

Other 1 5% 

TOTAL 22 100% 

Heterosexual, 32% 
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PCC Caseload 
Throughout the course of 2015, we drastically cleared our backlog of cases that had built up 
from prior years. 

At the start of 2015 there were 23 cases that were still to be determined by the PCC.  At the 
end of the year this had been reduced by over half (56%) to 10. 

 

 

23 22 22 
18 

16 16 16 15 
19 18 

10 
6 

10 

PCC Cases yet to be determined
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PCC Interim Suspension Hearings 2015 
If an allegation against a registered chiropractor has been referred by the IC to the PCC or 
the HC and the Committee has not reached a decision on the matter the Committee 
concerned may, if it is satisfied that it is necessary to do so in order to protect members of 
the public, order the Registrar to suspend the registration of the chiropractor concerned. 

An ‘interim suspension order’ shall cease to have effect when the Committee reaches a 
decision in respect of the allegation in question. 

Before making an interim suspension order, the Committee shall give the chiropractor in 
question an opportunity to appear before it and to argue his case against the making of the 
proposed order at a hearing.  The chiropractor is entitled to be legally represented. 

There were 3 PCC interim suspension hearings held in 2015.  In 2 of these hearings no 
order was imposed. 

 

Number of working days for an Interim Suspension Hearing 

The numbers of days taken to hear the cases are as follows: 

 

No order 
imposed 

33% 

Suspended 
67% 

18 19 

9 

Case A Case B Case C
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Report on the 2015 registration year 
This report provides an overview of the work undertaken by the registrations department 

of the General Chiropractic Council (GCC) during the period from 1 January to 31 
December 2015. 

 

 

The Register 

The Register of chiropractors opened in 1999 and since that time the GCC has registered 

over 4,300 chiropractors. As at 31 December 2015 there were 3,109 registered 

chiropractors, with 2,788 practising and 321 non-practising. 

 

Figure 1 – total number of registrants at the end of each year since 2007 

 
What this tells us 

There has been a steady increase in the total number of registered chiropractors since 

2007. With 669 more registrants at the end of 2015 than 2007, this means that on average 

the Register is increasing by around 84 registrants each calendar year. 

 

 

Figure 2 – accumulative percentage increase in registrant numbers since 31 December 2007 
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What does this tell us 

The accumulative percentage increase on the 31 December 2007 figure of 2,440 is 27.4%. 

Given that the chiropractic profession in the UK is relatively small and the market is not 

saturated, there is further scope for growth in the profession and we should expect this 

trend to continue into the future. 

 

 

Figure 3 – accumulative percentage increase in registrant numbers since 31 December 2007 

 
 

What this tells us 

The Register of Chiropractors grows annually on average between 3% and 3.5% as shown 

by the trend line in figure 3 above, although there has been a low of 1.5% and a high of 4.4% 

and if the trend continues we should expect to see the Register grow to in excess of 3,600 

over the next five years. 

 

Further consideration is given to the potential for growth of the Register on page 16 – 
Trends in initial registration figures. 
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New Registrants during 2015 
An overview of 2015 new registrants 

In total 187 new registrants joined the Register during 2015 representing an increase of 8 
from 2014, when 179 were registered. The monthly split of new registrants was as follows: 

 

Table 1 – number of new registrants by month from 2013 to 2015 

 

The chart below shows clearly where peaks in initial registration applications occur during 

the year. 

 

Figure 4 – number of new registrants by month during from 2013 to 2015 

 
 

What this tells us 

The majority of initial registration applications are received at the beginning of the year 

(January – February) and from July to September. This follows students graduating from the 

three UK institutions offering accredited chiropractic training courses and makes up the vast 

majority of registration applications. 

 

The flow of work is largely in line with projections, although there was a small spike of 

applications in November 2015. There was also a slight increase in registrations in 

November 2014 on the 2013 figure, but this was surpassed in 2015 by 70% on the previous 

years figure. It is therefore worth looking at the November figures in more detail to 

understand why registrations have increased in this particular month over the past three 

years. 
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Table 2 - November registration figures by educational institution 

 2013 2014 2015 

MCC new grads 1 3 11 

MCC deferred1 0 0 4 

University of Glamorgan/ South Wales  4 5 3 

AECC 0 3 2 

EU applicants 0 2 2 

Foreign qualified 0 0 1 

Total 5 13 23 

 

What this tells us 

Table 2 shows that the largest proportion of registrants for November 2015 were recent 

graduates from the McTimoney College of Chiropractic (MCC) and who would have 

achieved their qualification in October 2015 (11 out of a total 18 graduates). Although there 

was a cohort of MCC students in October 2014 of 13, many appear to have decided not to 

apply for registration initially. As a result of this we may see a corresponding reduction in 

new registration applications in January 2016. 

  

 

Table 3 - 2015 new registrants by registration route 

Registration route Total new registrants 

Route 1 – UK accredited course 162 

Route 2 – Foreign qualified 17 

Route 3 – EU General Directive 8 

Total 187 

 

What this tells us 

In total 162 new registrants were graduates of colleges offering GCC recognised 

qualifications and made up the largest proportion of new registrants during 2015 as they 

have done for many years now. In addition, 17 were registered on the basis that they have a 

foreign chiropractic qualification and by passing the Test of Competence, while the 

remaining 8 registrants where registered on the basis that they hold EU community rights 

and had practised within the EEA. Numbers applying on the basis of an overseas qualification 

remain small at only 13% of the total. Figures for all routes to registration were marginally 

greater for 2015 than in previous years. 

 

 

  

                                                           
1 graduates from previous years cohorts who deferred their registration 
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Routes to GCC registration 
The route an applicant takes to registration depends largely upon the chiropractic 

qualification held and, in cases where European law comes into play, nationality also plays a 
part. 

 

Route 1 – by accredited course (UK) 

By holding a chiropractic qualification recognised for the purposes of registration by the 

GCC. As the GCC has only been asked to accredit courses within the UK, only 

graduates of accredited courses from the three UK colleges are eligible through this 

route, (Anglo-European College of Chiropractic, McTimoney College of Chiropractic 

and the University of South Wales). 

 

Route 2 – unrecognised overseas chiropractic qualification (Test of Competence) 

By the applicant holding a chiropractic qualification other than from the UK that meets 

the requirements of the relevant GCC rules and also meeting the Standard of 

Proficiency by passing the Test of Competence. 

 

Route 3 – EU General Directive (establishment) 

By virtue of European Union (EU) General Directive 2005/36/EC. Applicants must 

possess EU community rights and meet the requirements of establishment in another 

European Economic Area (EEA) member state. 

 

Route 4 – EU General Directive (temporary and occasional) 

By virtue of European Union (EU) General Directive 2005/36/EC. Applicants must 

possess EU community rights, meet the requirements of establishment in another 

European Economic Area (EEA) member state and also intend to practise in the UK only 

on a temporary and occasional basis. 

 

 

Applicants holding a UK recognised qualification (route 1) 

The GCC recognises courses from three UK educational institutions, which are the only 

UK courses allowing individuals to apply for registration once completed. 

 
The GCC accredits courses that meet the standards set out in its GCC Degree Recognition 

Criteria, which is in turn linked to the Code of Practice/ Standard of Proficiency. The 

accreditation process is the system the GCC uses to ensure the outcomes of those courses 

and includes annual reviews to assure the quality of the course. 

 

The following table gives the numbers of 2015 graduates from accredited courses who had 

gained registration by 1 March 2016. 
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Table 4 – new registrants during 2015 by institution 

Educational 

institution 

Month course 

completed 

Number of 

graduates 

Number 

registered 

% of graduates 

registered 

during 2015 

McTimoney 

College of 

Chiropractic 

(MCC) 

October/ 

December 2014 

37 32 86.5% 

Anglo-European 

College of 

Chiropractic 

(AECC) 

June/ July 2015 105 42 40% 

University of 
South Wales 

June/ July 2015 74 49 66.2% 

Total - 216 123 57% 

 

 

What this tells us 

A much greater percentage of graduates from MCC go on to register than for the other 

colleges as they have a smaller number of overseas students who then return to their home 

country upon graduating. 

 

 
Table 5 – percentage of graduates from educational institutions registering from 2013-2015 

Educational institution 2013 2014 2015 

McTimoney College of Chiropractic 

(MCC) 

86% 86% 86% 

Anglo-European College of 

Chiropractic (AECC) 

43% 53% 40% 

University of South Wales 92% 75% 66% 

 

What this tells us 

While roughly the same percentage of MCC graduates have gone on to register over the 

past three years, the percentage of graduates registering from the University of South Wales 

has decreased significantly over the same period. This may be due to an increase in the 

number of overseas students who return to their home country after completing the 

course. 

 

In 2014 the numbers registering from the AECC had risen to over 50%, however for 2015 

the number dropped below the 2013 figure of 43%. It is unclear whether this is simply due 

to a higher proportion of overseas students taking the course in that cohort, or whether 

more of those decided to register in 2014. 
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Applicants holding a relevant foreign chiropractic qualification (route 2) 

For those who achieved a chiropractic qualification outside the UK, GCC registration is 

possible by taking the additional step of passing the Test of Competence. The Test of 

Competence is designed to ensure that applicants who do not have a qualification 

accredited by the GCC meet the same standards as those who do. 

 

Table 6 – new foreign qualified applicants registered during 2015, by educational institution 

Educational 

institution 

Country Number of 

registrants 

Year of graduation (total 

graduates in brackets) 

Durban Institute of 

Technology 

South Africa 1 2010 x1 

Life University USA 1 2014 x1 

Macquarie University Australia 4 2014 x4 

New Zealand 

College of 

Chiropractic 

(NZCC) 

New Zealand 7 2010 x1 

2013 x2 

2014 x1 

2015 x3 

Palmer College of 

Chiropractic 

USA 2 1989 x1 

2004 x1 

Royal Melbourne 

Institute of 

Technology 

Australia 2 2008 x1 

2012 x1 

Total - 17 - 

 

What this tells us 

Those gaining registration through this route were from a similar range of colleges to the 

figure seen for 2014 when 13 applicants gained registration. 

 

The majority (82%) of applicants graduated within the 5 years before registration, with 52% 

having graduated within 1-2 years. This is a similar figure to the 2014 figure when 55% had 

graduated within the same period.  

 

Unlike the past two years, 7 registrants graduated from the New Zealand College of 

Chiropractic, while only 4 came through Macquarie University. In both 2013 and 2014 the 

numbers of those from Macquarie had been much higher, while we had only seen one 

graduate from NZCC over the same period. 

 

The remainder of registrants came from a range of other chiropractic colleges from the 
USA, Australia and South Africa. 
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Test of Competence 

The new Test of Competence no longer requires candidates to attend a one day 

examination, but is made up of the following components: 

1. applicants submit: 

 application form 

 a completed Evidence of Practice Questionnaire, to show how they meet the 
standards of the GCC Code of Practice and Standard of Proficiency, in addition 

to their understanding of chiropractic in the UK. 

 anonymised patient records to illustrate their responses 

 a copy of their CV/ Resumé; and  

 evidence of the content of their chiropractic degree 

2. where the candidate has provided all documentary evidence, they are eligible to 

attend an interview, which is the final part of the test 

3. prior to the interview, the chiropractic qualification is mapped to the GCC Degree 

Recognition Criteria and an assessment panel then meets to review the 

documentation provided by each candidate. This is to see whether any part of the 

Code of Practice and Standard of Proficiency may not have been fully met, and if so, 

questions will be tailored by that panel for the interview to ensure these aspects are 

covered. 

 

While it’s possible to submit an application for the Test of Competence at any time, the 

GCC is only able to run tests on a given number of days each year. These are currently 

taking place during January, March, June and September, largely in line with the previous 

version of the test. 

 

 

Test outcomes 

Unlike the previous version of the test, where outcomes were limited to either a pass or 

fail, there is now the possibility of a third outcome. Where insufficient evidence has been 

provided by the candidate and additional information is needed by the panel to cover minor 

aspects of the Code of Practice and Standard of Proficiency that  have not been met, the 

candidate may be asked to submit additional information. Following successful submission of 

this additional information, the applicant is likely to go on to pass the test. 

 

 

The results 

While there have only been four of the new version tests and 26 attempts thus far, it’s 

worth reviewing the results. 

 

Two candidates who deferred and withdrew their application, are not included within the 

result data, but are included in the application data. 
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Table 7 - test results by individual test 

Initial test results Jan-152 Mar-153 Jun-154 

 

Sept -15 Total 

 

Total %age 

Pass 1 3 2 4 10 38.5 

Fail 2 1 1 2 6 23.0 

Insufficient 

Evidence 1 3 5 1 10 38.5 

Total 4 7 8 7 26 100.0 

 

Figure 5 – 2015 test results 

 
 

Figure 6 - number of candidates per test vs number from test now registered 

 
 

  

                                                           
2 One of those candidates failing the January test has subsequently passed. 
3 A candidate deferred to the June test and is not included within the results for March 2015. 
4 A candidate withdrew from the June test and is not included within the results 
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What this tells us 

It should be borne in mind that with only 26 attempts at the new version of the test so far, 

and with the test being very new, we have no way of knowing whether current trends will 

continue or if they will change as more data is assessed. 

 

Initially the first test resulted in 2 out of 4 candidates failing, although the failure rate has 

dropped subsequently. As a result the overall failure rate is only 23% which, when compared 

to the results of the 2014 tests in aggregate, is lower then the 30% seen for that year. 

 

It should be noted that the overall pass rate of 38% is lower than the 70% seen in 2014. 

While on the face of it this may cause concern, it should be remembered that the result of 

the previous version of the test was limited to either a pass or a fail, whereas a third option, 

referred to as Insufficient Evidence, is now possible and which will necessarily reduce the 

results for the other two categories in the first instance. 

 

 

Insufficient evidence 

Those candidates the interview panel felt had weaknesses not great enough to warrant a fail, 

but where some concern remained as to their ability to practise safely and competently, are 

now asked to provide additional evidence to show how they have addressed those 

weaknesses, which is evaluated by the Test of Competence panel. 

 

Of the 10 candidates asked to provide additional information, seven have subsequently done 
so and had passed the test by 31 December 2015. This then brings the pass rate for the new 

test to around the 65% mark, rising further once additional evidence arrives from the 

remaining candidates, which will result in pass rate being higher than the previous version of 

the test. In total 14 subjects required further evidence between 10 candidates, meaning that 

several candidates failed to pass initially on multiple subjects. 

 

Candidates were asked to undertake additional learning and submit evidence of completion 

of this learning on a range of subjects. With only 10 candidates so far being required to 

provide additional evidence, it would be premature to draw conclusions from the data to 

hand. However, it is worth giving details of the most common subjects were candidates 

demonstrated only limited knowledge, to aid future candidates as part of their study. 

 

Table 8 - number of subjects with insufficient evidence 

 

Subject 

 

Total 

Limited knowledge of evidence based practice 6 

Limited knowledge of common over the counter medications and 

commonly prescribed medications 

4 

Insufficient knowledge of the Ionising Radiation (Medical Exposure) 

Regulations 

4 

Total number of subjects 14 
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What this tells us 

Two thirds of candidates asked to provide additional evidence were required to do so as 

they were unable to demonstrate a sufficient level of knowledge on evidence based practice. 

Given that there have been only 26 attempts at the test so far, this represents a quarter of 

all attempts at the test so far. 

 

In addition, two other subjects came up multiple times related to medications and ionising 

radiation regulations. The remaining subjects not successfully demonstrated by candidates 

largely related to different aspects of patient care and management.  

 

We believe that making this information available to potential candidates will allow 

candidates to gauge the aspects of the test for focused study to ensure they have a better 

chance of passing first time. 

 

Figure 7 - Those with insufficient evidence who had passed as at 31 December 2015 

 
 

 

Nationality of test candidates 

Figure 8 – Test candidates by nationality 
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What does this tell us? 

Of the 24 candidates who took the test during 2015, 15 were from Australasia, with 10 

originating from Australia and five from New Zealand. This means that only nine candidates 

were from outside Australasia, being from the United States, South Africa, United Kingdom 

and Denmark respectively. 

 

It should be considered that applicants from Australia and New Zealand will often have the 

opportunity to work in the UK on ancestry visas therefore swelling the number, while this is 

less likely for someone, for example, from the United States. 

 

 

Qualification of applicants 

Figure 9 - applicants by nationality 

 
 

 

What does this tell us? 

Given the numbers graduating from the local educational institutions, we should not be 

surprised to find this largely correlates with the nationality of candidates. For example, we 

see that those graduates of Macquarie University and RMIT make up nine candidates in total, 

from the ten Australian candidates, while the six from the New Zealand College of 

Chiropractic were New Zealand nationals. 

 

There were three British candidates who took the test during 2015, all having graduated 
from colleges in the USA as did the Danish candidate. This means that only half of the eight 

candidates from US colleges were US nationals, the remainder being EU nationals. 

 

In comparison to the 2014 candidates5 and according to nationality of qualification, nine out 

of the 13 candidates were from Australia, three were from the United States with one from 

South Africa. However, there were no candidates from New Zealand during 2014 and in 

fact only one during 2013, yet five 2015 candidates were New Zealanders. It is unclear at 

                                                           
5 Figures for 2014 test applicants can be found in the GCC Annual registration report 2014 http://www.gcc-
uk.org/UserFiles/Docs/Registrations/Report%20on%20the%202014%20registration%20year%20FINAL.pdf  
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this stage whether we shall see a continued increase in the number of candidates from New 

Zealand in the future or if 2015 in particular is an anomaly.   

 

 

Applicants applying under European Union (EU) General Directive 2005/36/EC 

 

Establishment (route 3)  

The number applying through the EU General Directive has remained at around the same 

level as last year, with eight applicants gaining registration. Those eight applied on the basis 

that they intended to practise within the UK on a permanent basis, which is referred to in 

the Directive as ‘establishment’. 

 

Table 9 – educational institution of applicants through the EU directive 

Educational institution Country Number of 

registrants 

Year of graduation (total 

graduates in brackets) 

Insitut Franco-Européen de 

Chiropraxie (IFEC) 

France 5 2014 x2 

2015 x3 

Real Centro University Spain 2 2012 x1 

2013 x1 

Scandinavian College of 

Chiropractic 

Sweden 1 1999 x1 

Total - 8 - 

 
What this tells us 

Five of the seven applicants applying through the EU general directive route were French 

graduates from IFEC. Given the limited number of institutions offering chiropractic courses 

in Europe, it is of no surprise that a higher number were from France and the IFEC.  

 

However, unlike those applying through this route during 2014 when we saw all but one 

applicant through IFEC, in 2015 we received our first applicants from both Real Centro 

University in Spain and the Scandinavian College of Chiropractic in Sweden. 

 

 

Table 10 – nationality of applicants through the EU General Directive 

Nationality Number of registrants 

French 5 

Spanish 2 

Swedish 1 

Total 8 

 

What this tells us 

Fewer French nationals made up those EU applications during 2015 than for 2014. Given 

that the numbers through this route to registration are small, it takes only a tiny number to 

drastically alter the trend and therefore caution is exercised in analysing the data. What we 

can see though, from past figures, is that a higher number of applicants are French nationals 
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graduating from IFEC than from other European colleges, which may simply be due to 

France’s proximity to the UK. 

 

 

Temporary registration (route 4) 

Following from our first temporary registrant in 2014 we saw a further temporary registrant 

in 2015. Again the registrant was a French national holding a recent qualification from IFEC. 

In a similar development to 2014, the registrant subsequently decided to remain in the UK, 

and therefore now holds full registration under the EU General Directive on the basis of 

establishment and their data is included in the section above.  
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Trends in initial registration figures 
When extrapolating trends it should be stated that while we can utilise previous statistics 

for this purpose, the many variables mean they should be considered as ‘best guesses’ only. 
 

It may seem obvious that the largest variable is the number of UK new graduates who may 

apply for registration, but this is particularly important when forecasting using percentages 

since a small number of graduates either applying, or deciding not to apply for registration, 

will have a disproportionate effect. This can be seen by comparing the figures for new UK 

graduates applying for registration, which shows that 123 out of the 210 graduates from 

2013 registered, equating to 58.6%, while in 2014 just 13 more graduates registered bringing 

the total to 136, increasing the percentage up to 65%. However, we see this figure drop 

back to 57% for 2015, appearing to indicate that the 2014 figure was something of an 

anomaly. 

 

Also when forecasting numbers of new registrants for future years, the rate of attrition of 

students is important and the further into the future one looks the bigger the extrapolation 

has for error. This has a particular impact when looking at 4 year courses over a five year 

period, where students will not yet have enrolled as is the case for 2020. 

 

Table 11 – potential graduates from UK educational institutions for the following five years 
 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Anglo-European College of Chiropractic 75 120 115 110 130 

University of South Wales 108 65 84 60 80 

McTimoney College of Chiropractic 43 34 29 28 31 

Total 226 219 228 198 241 

 

What this tells us  

Each college has a dip in potential graduates at some point over the next five years – as seen 

by the shaded area in table 11. Although the overall figure remains relatively static, in 2020 a 

potential 10% increase in graduates occurs taking the figure to 241 from a low the previous 

year of 198. Natural erosion of student numbers is likely to reduce the total who go on to 

graduate in that year as some students drop out of the course, therefore shrinking the 

numbers seeking registration following completion of the course. 

 

 

Table 12 – projected registration figures for the following five years 

Educational institution 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

UK graduates* 137 133 139 120 147 

Foreign Qualified** 15 15 15 15 15 

EU Directive** 8 8 8 8 8 

Total 160 156 162 143 170 

* these figures have been calculated assuming a registration rate of 61% for UK graduates, which is 

the average for the past two years. 

** these figures have been calculated based on the average number of registrants through this route 

to registration over the past two years.  
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Figure 10 - potential new registrants over the next five years 

 
 

What this tells us 

Over the next four years the initial registration figures are likely to remain relatively stable, 

with a small increase probable in 2020. We are unable to determine at this time whether 

this increase represents a pattern, or if it is a one off. The effect on the Register as a whole 

is likely to be that of continued growth at roughly the same rate, as covered on pages 2 & 3 

of this report. 

 

 

Retentions 

Summary 

By the end of the 2016 retention period on 31 December 2015, 3,109 registrants remained 

on the Register. 

 

Factors affecting annual retention figures: 

 as noted below, there are a number of reasons individuals may register as non-
practising 

 there are a number of people who will leave the Register on an annual basis; and  

 there are a number of individuals who register for the first time after 10 November 
each year in order to pay the initial registration fee covering the following registration 

year only rather than paying both the initial registration and retention fee. 

 

 

Non-practising rate of registration 

Schedule 2 of the GCC (Registration) Rules 1999 allows a registrant not intending to 

practise as a chiropractor within the UK for the duration of a registration year to pay a 

reduced fee of £100. So that this is clearly reflected on the Register of Chiropractors we 

annotate a registrant’s entry to show they are not practising. This is important as it ensures 

that potential patients and the public are aware which individuals are not practising when 

making choices on which professional to seek treatment from.  

 

At the end of December 2015, 321 registrants had paid the £100 non- practising rate as 

they did not intend practising in the UK during 2016, representing more than 10% of the 

profession.  
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Figure 11 – percentage of registrants paying the non-practising fee since 2012 

 
 

What this tells us 

Figure 11 shows the percentage of the Register made up of those chiropractors paying the 

£100 non-practising fee has increased over the past four years. At the end of 2012, 265 

registrants had paid the lower £100 fee, but by the end of 2015 this had grown to 321, 

representing a 20% increase on the earlier figure. 

 

Since the non-practising rate does not fully cover the cost of regulating those individuals, 

they are effectively subsidised by registrants paying the higher £800 practising fee. Should 

this trend continue and the numbers paying the lower rate increase further, there maybe 

implications for the GCC’s income and its continued ability to perform its statutory 

function. 

 

Table 13 - reasons given for paying the non-practising registration fee 

 

Number of 

registrants 

%age of 

total 

Health 12 3.7% 

Financial 5 1.6% 

Working overseas 193 60.2% 

Travelling 4 1.2% 

Education 18 5.6% 

Sabbatical 7 2.2% 

Not working as a chiropractor 37 11.5% 

Maternity/ Child care 42 13.1% 

Retired 3 0.9% 

Total 321 100.00% 
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What this tells us 

Most of those paying the non-practising rate did so as they were practising outside of the 

GCC’s jurisdiction which makes up 60% of the total. The next largest group were those 

taking a break from their careers for maternity and child care reasons. 

 

Only around 70 of non-practising registrants appear to be taking a short break from practice 

with the intention of practising again in the UK, with the remainder showing no clear 

indication or intent to practise again in the UK at any point in the future. This does raise a 

question as to why those not intending to work in the chiropractic profession again in the 

UK wish to remain registered when the concern of the GCC is to regulate those 

chiropractors offering chiropractic services in the UK. 

 

 

Removals from the Register 

Continued registration is dependant upon registrants complying with all requirements of 

registration. Failure to meet those requirements can lead to removal from the Register.  

 

Removal from the Register can be for any of the following reasons: 

Failure to remain fit to practise (struck-off) 

Registrants who do not meet the standards as set out in the GCC’s Code of Practice/ 

Standard of Proficiency, or who do not comply with GCC legislation, may be removed from 

the Register. 

 
Failure to retain on the Register (lapse) 

All registrants must provide a full application for retention on the Register before the 

statutory deadline of 30 November in any given registration year, which includes an 

application form and the retention fee. Should the application not arrive by the deadline a 

final warning notice is issued, allowing the registrant a further 14 days to comply. If at the 

end of those 14 days the application has not arrived then the registrant will normally be 

removed from the Register.  

 

Failure to complete annual CPD requirements (CPD non compliance) 

Each year all registered chiropractors must fill in and return a CPD record summary to 

show the learning they undertook to comply with the GCC’s CPD scheme. Those 

registrants who do not provide a summary, or who fail to meet the requirements of the 

scheme, may be removed from the Register. 

 

Voluntary removal 

In addition to the above reasons, the GCC rules allow a registrant to remove his or her 

name from the Register at any time by submitting the relevant application form and a 

statutory declaration. 
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Table 14 - method of removal from the Register during 2015 by month 

 

Struck 

off Lapse Voluntary Deceased 

CPD non 

compliance Total 

January 0 0 0 0 0 0 

February 0 0 0 0 0 0 

March 0 0 1 0 0 1 

April 0 0 1 0 0 1 

May 0 0 1 0 0 1 

June 0 0 0 0 0 0 

July 0 0 0 0 0 0 

August 0 0 3 0 0 3 

September 0 0 2 0 0 2 

October 1 0 2 0 25 28 

November 0 0 1 0 0 1 

December 0 44 10 0 0 44 

Total 1 44 21 0 25 81 

2014 3 39 21 2 42 107 

 

What this tells us 

Essentially table 14 shows us that the majority of removals from the Register fall in October 

at the end of the CPD period and after the retention period in December. The remaining 

removals occurred throughout the year and are made up of those taking voluntary removal 

from the Register or, in one case, having been struck-off the Register following a hearing 

before the Professional Conduct Committee. 

 

The 81 removals for 2015 was lower in number that the 107 removals seen for 2014 and, 

on analysis, there were significantly fewer removals for non-compliance with the CPD rules 

in 2015 and a small number more registrants who allowed their registration to lapse than in 

2014. 
 

In 2014 we had, for the first time, uncoupled the requirement to provide a completed CPD 

summary from the retention process and required it be with us by 30 September. We found 

in several instances registrants preferred to come off the Register rather than fill in the 

summary, presumably as they had failed to complete the 30 hours of learning needed, 

despite it being a legal requirement to do so. Now in its second year, the lower number of 

removals for CPD compliance failure may be due to a greater familiarity with the change of 

deadline. 

 

 

Reasons for no longer remaining on the Register 

As in most cases registrants do not formally notify us of the reasons for coming off the 

Register, these figures have been collated from voluntary removal application forms and 

email correspondence with registrants. Where a registrant’s last known registered address 
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was overseas, it has been taken that the reason they did not wish to remain on the Register 

was that they were no longer resident in the UK. 

 

Table 15 – reasons for no longer remaining on the Register 

 

Number of 

registrants 

%age of 

total 

Since 

restored 

Working overseas 36 44.4% 2 

Not working as a chiropractor 13 16.0% 1 

Retired 11 13.6% 0 

Health 7 8.6% 0 

Financial 6 7.4% 1 

Maternity/ Child care 3 3.7% 0 

Unknown 3 3.7% 0 

Education 1 1.3% 0 

Struck-off 1 1.3% 0 

Sabbatical 0 0% 0 

Travelling 0 0% 0 

Total 81 100.00% 4 

 

 

What this tells us 

There were a range of reasons for registrants no longer remaining on the Register. Over a 

third of those coming off the Register did so as they were no longer working in the UK. Not 

surprisingly we find that those who have permanently left the profession, having either 

retired or moved on to another profession, make up in excess of a quarter of all removals. 

 

 

Table 16 – status of those coming off the Register 

 

Number of 

registrants 

As a %age of 

removers 

%age on the 

Register 

Practising 48 60% 89.7% 

Non-practising 33 40% 10.3% 

Total 81 100% 100% 

 

What this tells us 

A larger proportion of those coming off the Register during 2015 were non-practising than 

practising. This may be because registrants are initially cautious about relinquishing their 

registration and prefer to remain as non-practising in case their circumstances change. 

There is still a perception among a small number of registrants that restoring to the Register 

is a complicated process involving passing the Test of Competence, although this has never 

been the case. 
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Table 17 – Reasons for removal from the Register by registration category 

Reason for removal Practising Non Practising Total 

CPD non compliance 9 (36%) 16 (64%) 25 

Lapse 25 (73.5%) 9 (26.5%) 34 

Struck off 0 1 1 

Voluntary removal 14 (66.6%) 7 (33.4%) 21 

 

What this tells us 

Table 17 compares the registration category of those who came off the Register by the 

reason for their removal. There is a very clear distinction between statuses, for those failing 

to comply with CPD requirements and those who allow their registration to lapse. 

 

Nearly three quarters of those lapsing were registered (73.5%) as practising, while the 

majority of those having been removed for failing to comply with CPD (65%) were non-

practising. This may be due to those non-practising registrants not completing CPD during 

the CPD year, which tends to lend to the theory that they would have been better off 

taking voluntary removal or allowing their registration to lapse the previous year. We make 

it clear to all non-practising registrants that they must still comply with CPD requirements 

and include reference to this on the letter confirming their annual retention on the Register. 

 

A comparison of the reasons given for paying the non-practising rate or leaving 

the Register 

 

Figure 12 - the main reasons given by those leaving the Register and those paying the non-

practising rate as a percentage 
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What this tells us 

Figure 12 shows that for both those registrants paying the non-practising rate and those 

leaving the Register, their main reason for doing so is an intention to practise overseas. 

 

A comparative analysis shows that those who are taking time off for maternity or child care 

are more likely to remain on the Register as non-practising than they are to come off the 

Register, while those stating health reasons are more likely to come off the Register all 

together, rather than take non-practising registration. 

 

 

 

Diversity of the Register 

The sex and date of birth of all applicants is collected on the registration application form.  

 

Split by sex of new registrants 

The following data gives details of the split by sex for all those registered between 1 January 

and 31 December 2015. 

 

Figure 13 - new registrants by sex 

 
 

What this tells us 

The percentage of female new registrants in 2014 was approximately 53%, higher by 5% 

than the 2014 figure. The split by sex within the profession as a whole has largely been 
50:50 for some time, although in recent years there have been marginally more male new 

registrants than female. However, if the trend shown in figure 13 continues and we 

increasingly see more female new registrants each year, the composition of the Register will 

change overtime. 
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Age split of new registrants 

The following chart gives details of the age split for all those registered between 1 January 

and 31 December in 2013 to 2015, with the data for past years being extracted from 

previous registration reports. 

 

Figure 14 – percentage split of new registrants by age since 2013 

 
 

What this tells us 

New registrants are largely made up of those under 30, which is as we would expect given 

that the majority of those are new graduates. 

 

The trend seen over the past three years, whereby the under 30 age group makes up the 

vast majority of new registrants is expected and we anticipate this tendency continuing into 

the future as the majority to new registrants will graduate from chiropractic colleges in the 

UK and register shortly after successful completion of their course. 

 

 

Split by sex of the Register as a whole 

 

Figures 15 – percentage split of registrants by sex since 2006 

 
 

What this tells us 

While there is a near 50:50 split between female and male chiropractors, at the end of 2015 

female chiropractors outnumbered their male colleagues for the first time. Given the trend 

of new registrants being more likely to be female (figure 13); this may increase in the future. 
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Spilt of the Register by age 

 

Figure 16 – percentage split of registrants by age since 2006 

 
 

 

Figure 17 – percentage split of registrants by age since 2006 

 
 

 

What this tells us 

The overall age profile of registrants was roughly equal to 2014. The general trend is of a 

reduction in the under 45 bracket and an increase in those over 46 continues at a very slow 

rate. The over 60 bracket has steadily increased over the past 9 years and is double its 2006 

figure. In addition the 45 to 59 bracket has increased by 7% over the same period, with a 

reduction for the under 45 bracket of 11%. 
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Communications 

During 2015 the registrations team engaged with stakeholders in a number of areas. 

 

 

New Continuing Professional Development (CPD) guidance 

The GCC published new guidance to assist registrants when completing their annual CPD 

return, as well as documenting the audit process followed within the office with the aim of 

increasing transparency. 

 

CPD learning points 

For the second year the GCC published learning points for registrants based on the 

submission of CPD record summaries for 2014/ 15. The purpose of this publication is to 

show chiropractors where the most common errors occur, with the aim of reducing the 

number of mistakes in following years. 

 

CPD quality assurance 

As the GCC conducts more thorough annual checks of registrants CPD record summaries, 

a mechanism to assure the quality of those decisions was established, with the Royal College 

of Chiropractors undertaking the role. The purpose of the process is to ensure the integrity 

of decisions made and also to make sure that the procedure followed in determining 

decisions is fit for purpose. 

 

Changes to GCC indemnity arrangement rules 
New legislations came into force on 17 July 2015 varying the indemnity arrangement 

requirements for those registrants practising within the UK. The GCC consulted with 

stakeholders both before and after drafting the new rules, as well as publishing details of the 

changes to ensure registrants had plenty of time to comply. 

 

Checks of registrants indemnity arrangements 

An exercise was undertaken shortly after the rules were changed requiring all registrants 

with ‘practising’ registration status to provide details of their current indemnity details. 

Checks will now be completed on an annual basis to ensure registrants remain suitably 

indemnified and therefore in compliance with the rules. 

 

 

For further information on registrations or CPD, please contact:: 

Registrations team 

General Chiropractic Council 

44 Wicklow Street 

London 

WC1X 9HL 

020 7713 5155 x5501 

www.gcc-uk.org 

enquiries@gcc-uk.org 
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Strategic Risk 
description Risk Event Further actions planned to reduce the risk to a 

tolerable level and progress to date

P I S Risk 
Owner P I S

Failure to uphold confidence in the GCC 4 4 16

Council received a governance review report in January 
2016 and put in place an action plan to deal with all the 
recommendations. The Department of Health (DoH) will be 
consulting in October in respect of a new Healthcare Bill.  
One of themes emerging is around rationalisation in the 
number of regulators. 

DH

The action plan has been implemented and Council was 
advised of progress in March 2016. By June, we expect 
that the one outstanding action in respect of a full review 
of the governance manual will be complete.  The PSA 
have not given the green light for the appointment of the 
GCC chair at present.  We will engage effectively in the 
joint meetings between the DoH and all healthcare 
regulators in the forthcoming months. 

3 4 12

Failure to meet the required standard in all areas of the 
PSA performance report. 4 4 16

The PSA performance report for 2014/15 identified 
standards which had not been met for the period.  The 
Committee agreed a series of quarterly audits and the first 
of these took place in February 2015. The Committee have 
now received four audits all which show a major 
improvement across all areas of case management. 

CER

Audits have been undertaken in February, June, 
September 2015 and most recently in February 2016. The 
reports have shown improvement in each report and there 
are very few recommendations for improvement in the 
recent report.   Furthermore, the Council agreed an 
annual registration audit which was recently completed in 
February 2016. This showed good compliance with the 
procedure manual and there were no recommendations 
made. 

3 3 9

Risk of information security breaches of data 4 4 16

A detailed note on data protection procedures has now 
been implemented within the office procedure manual.  All 
members of staff have now received further training on 
their responsibilities in relation to both the Data Protection 
Act (DPA).

PG

Enhanced training was delivered in September 2014 for 
all members of staff. The GCC had also increased the 
skills and experience of the FtP team by appointing  two 
FtP lawyer advocates and as a result we expect that the 
level of breaches will reduce. We have purchased an e 
learning Data Protection module for staff to ensure that 
new leavers and current members can refresh their skills 
on an ongoing basis. A further training day and an 
information governance audit will be implemented in 
2016. 

2 4 8

Failure to manage changes in financial activity leading to 
capital withdrawals from the investment portfolio. 3 3 9

Council agrees the budget each year and monitors financial
performance by way of regular reports to Council. Council 
has agreed an investment strategy and the investment 
manager reports on a monthly basis and also attends 
Council meetings, as requested.

PG

Council has agreed a budget deficit for 2016. This will not 
require a drawdown from the investment portfolio. The 
current management accounts for the end of March 2016 
do not indicate any major problem that would affect this 
position.  There have been a  number of additional costs 
incurred which were not budgeted for at the year end. 
These include governance investigations and associated 
work, recruitment of Chair and covering long term staff 
absentees. There is also the continued threat of an 
increase in advertising complaints which may lead to an 
increase in complaints referred for a hearing. These may 
lead to a requirement to drawdown in the future and will 
be reviewed regularly.

3 3 9

Controls and monitoring procedures currently in operationInherent Score Residual 
score

Failure to uphold 
confidence in the 

GCC

C-1606/8a
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Failure of Council to work effectively and make policy 
decisions in the public interest 4 4 16

Council member appraisals have taken place. Recent 
governance issues do relate to the whether decisions were 
made effectively and appropriately. The governance review 
highlighted concerns in relation to confidentiality, individual 
member responsibility, collective Council member 
responsibility along with concerns about governance 
documentation. 

Chair

Training on the recommended areas was provided on 
March 9th.  The changes to the governance 
documentation will begin in the next few weeks with a 
revised governance manual coming to the June Council 
Meeting. It is possible that a training day on the current 
policies within the revised governance manual may form a 
training day in September. 

3 4 12

Failure to protect the 
public

The failure to introduce a system of assuring the continued 
fitness to practice of chiropractors 3 5 15

Council agreed in 2014 that the Education Committee 
would lead in carrying out a review of the CPD scheme in 
light of enhancements made by other regulators and to 
provide greater assurance of registrants continuing fitness 
to practice. The Education Committee reported upon 
progress in March 2015 and agreed  a work programme to 
develop a scheme for Continuing Fitness to Practise.

PB

DH and PSA are kept up to date with progress in this area 
and regular meetings are held with other regulators in 
order to learn from them.   The Education Committee 
discusses progress at each of its meetings and will 
update Council in June 2016 on work that has been 
carried out to improve the current scheme and work with 
registrants on new elements. 

2 4 8
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10th  March 16th June 29th September 5th December

Update report from the Audit Committee Update report from the Audit Committee Review of retention fees Update report from the Audit Committee

Review of Strategic Risk Register Strategic Risk Register - any items scoring over 15 Review of Strategic Risk Register
Strategic Risk Register - any items scoring 

over 15

Performance Report

-Annual Registration Report 

Performance Report PSA

- Annual FtP report and statistics

- Annual registration report

Performance Report Performance Report

Guidance notes
Education Committee update  incl CPD review 

update and TOC Year 1 Evaluation
Review Strategic Statement

Financial Strategy Review incl Investment 

Strategy

Reserves Management letter and letter of representation Draft Business Plan and budget Remuneration Committee's report

Use of the title 'Dr' Financial Statements Education Standards Draft business plan and budget

Annual report and accounts Education Ctte annual report

Update on Governance options raised following 

March seminar
Presentation from Cazenove

March June September December

Minutes from Audit Ctte Minutes from Audit Ctte Minutes from Education Ctte Minutes from Audit Ctte

Minutes from Education Ctte Minutes from Education Ctte Council dates for 2017 Minutes from Education Ctte

Minutes from REmCo

ITEMS TO NOTE

Performance Report emailed monthly (last week of each month)

Council work plan for 2016

Action log

Chief Executive's report

Chair's report

Council work plan 

C-1606/9
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